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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements include all statements that do not relate solely to historical or current facts and can generally be identified by
words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” "future," “goal,” “intend,” “may,” “outlook,” “plan,” “positioned,” “possible,”
“potential,” “project,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” and similar expressions or variations thereof, or the negative thereof, but these terms are not the
exclusive means of identifying such statements. Forward-looking statements are based on management’s expectations and assumptions as of the date
of this report and are not guarantees of future performance. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements may relate to a number of matters, including expectations regarding revenue, margins, expenses, eamings, tax provisions,
cash flows, pension obligations, share repurchases or other statements regarding economic conditions or our business outlook; statements regarding
capital expenditures and plans, projects, strategies and objectives for our future operations, including our ability to win new projects and execute the
projects in our backlog; and statements regarding our expectations with respect to pending legal claims or disputes. While forward-looking statements
are made in good faith and based on assumptions, expectations and projections that management believes are reasonable based on currently available
information, actual performance and financial results may differ materially from projections and estimates expressed in the forward-ooking statements
because of many factors, including, without limitation:

» changes in global or regional economic conditions, inflation, and supply and demand dynamics in the market segments we sene, including demand
for technologies and projects to limit the impact of global climate change;

+ changes in the financial markets that may affect the availability and terms on which we may obtain financing;
+ the ability to execute agreements with customers and implement price increases to offset cost increases;
+ disruptions to our supply chain and related distribution delays and cost increases;

» risks associated with having extensive intemational operations, including political risks, risks associated with unanticipated government actions and
risks of investing in developing markets;

+ project delays, scope changes, cost escalations, contract terminations, customer cancellations, or postponement of projects and sales;
+ our ability to safely develop, operate, and manage costs of large-scale and technically complex projects;

» the future financial and operating performance of major customers, joint ventures, and equity affiliates;

+ our ability to dewvelop, implement, and operate new technologies and to market products produced utilizing new technologies;

» our ability to execute the projects in our backlog and refresh our pipeline of new projects;

+ tariffs, economic sanctions and regulatory activities in jurisdictions in which we and our &ffiliates and joint ventures operate;

» the impact of environmental, tax, safety, or other legislation, as well as regulations and other public policy initiatives affecting our business and the
business of our affiliates and related compliance requirements, including legislation, regulations, or policies intended to address global climate
change;

* changes in tax rates and other changes in tax law;
» safety incidents relating to our operations;

» the timing, impact, and other uncertainties relating to acquisitions, divestitures, and joint venture activities, as well as our ability to integrate
acquisitions and separate divested businesses, respectively;
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

risks relating to cybersecurity incidents, including risks from the interruption, failure or compromise of our information systems or those of our
business partners or senice providers;

catastrophic events, such as natural disasters and extreme weather events, pandemics and other public health crises, acts of war, including
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and new and ongoing conflicts in the Middle East, or terrorism;

the impact on our business and customers of price fluctuations in cil and natural gas and disruptions in markets and the economy due to oil and
natural gas price wolatility;

costs and outcomes of legal or regulatory proceedings and investigations;

asset impairments due to economic conditions or specific events;

significant fluctuations in inflation, interest rates, and foreign currency exchange rates from those currently anticipated;

damage to facilities, pipelines or delivery systems, including those we are constructing or that we own or operate for third parties;
availability and cost of electric power, natural gas, and other raw materials; and

the commencement and success of any productivity and operational improvement programs.

In addition to the foregoing factors, forward-looking statements contained herein are qualified with respect to the risks disclosed elsewhere in this
document, including in ltem 2, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and ltem 3, Quantitative and

Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, as well as with respect to the risks described in ltem 1A, Risk Factors, to our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended 30 September 2024. Any of these factors, as well as those not currently anticipated by management, could cause our results of

operations, financial condition or liquidity to differ materially from what is expressed or implied by any forward-looking statement. Except as required by

law, we disclaim any obligation or undertaking to update or revise any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in assumptions,

beliefs, or expectations or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances upon which any such forward-ooking statements are based.
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PART |I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
31 December
(Millions of U.S. Dollars, except for share and per share data) 2024 2023
Sales $2,931.5 $2,997.4
Cost of sales 2,016.5 2,067.2
Selling and administrative expense 242.4 238.4
Research and dewvelopment expense 22.0 25.7
Shareholder activism costs 29.9 —
Other income (expense), net 22.9 0.8
Operating Income 643.6 666.9
Equity affiliates' income 150.6 158.4
Interest expense 42.6 53.5
Other non-operating income (expense), net 38.9 (14.8)
Income Before Taxes 790.5 757.0
Income tax provsion 140.7 135.4
Net Income 649.8 621.6
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 32.4 12.3
Net Income Attributable to Air Products $617.4 $609.3
Per Share Data (U.S. Dollars per share)
Basic eamings per share attributable to Air Products $2.77 $2.74
Diluted eamings per share attributable to Air Products $2.77 $2.73
Weighted Average Common Shares (in millions)
Basic 222.7 222.5
Diluted 222.9 222.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
31 December
(Millions of U.S. Dollars) 2024 2023
Net Income $649.8 $621.6
Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, net of tax:
Translation adjustments, net of tax of $46.2 and ($29.8) (624.0) 380.6
Net gain (loss) on derivatives, net of tax of ($22.0) and $5.5 65.7 (161.1)
Reclassification adjustments:
Derivatives, net of tax of $27.8 and ($12.8) 91.9 42.2)
Pension and postretirement benefits, net of tax of $3.3 and $4.2 11.0 13.7
Total Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income (455.4) 191.0
Comprehensive Income $194.4 $812.6
Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests 324 12.3
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests 103.1 (138.1)
Comprehensive Income Attributable to Air Products $58.9 $938.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.



Table of Contents

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
31 Decerber 30 Septenber

(Millions of U.S. Dollars, except for share and per share data) 2024 2024
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash itens $1,845.5 $2,979.7
Short-terminvestrrents 117.5 5.0
Trade receivables, net 1,807.4 1,821.6
Inventories 739.0 766.0
Prepaid expenses 201.8 179.9
Other receivables and current assets 640.5 610.8
Total Current Assets $5,351.7 $6,363.0
Investrrent in net assets of and advances to equity affiliates 47721 47925
Fant and equipment, at cost 41,097.9 39,950.9
Less: accunmulated depreciation 16,367.1 16,580.0
Pant and equipment, net $24,730.8 $23,370.9
Goodwill, net 866.5 905.1
Intangible assets, net 2875 311.6
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 1,017.4 1,047.7
Noncurrent lease receivables 335.7 392.1
Financing receivables 1,245.4 1,220.2
Other noncurrent assets 1,410.1 1,171.5
Total Noncurrent Assets $34,665.5 $33,211.6
Total Assets® $40,017.2 $39,574.6
Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities
Payables and accrued liabilities $3,023.7 $2,926.2
Accrued incorre taxes 586.1 558.5
Short-termborrowings 68.2 83.5
Current portion of long-termdebt 1,1314 611.4
Total Current Liabilities $4,800.4 $4,179.6
Long-termdebt 13,170.5 13,428.6
Long-termdebt — related party 100.4 104.4
Noncurrent operating lease liabilities 655.1 677.9
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,348.1 1,350.5
Deferred income taxes 1,195.0 1,159.9
Total Noncurrent Liabilities $16,469.1 $16,721.3
Total Liabilities® $21,278.5 $20,900.9
Commitments and Contingencies - See Note 10
Air Products Shareholders’ Equity
Conmron stock (par value $1 per share; issued 2025 and 2024 - 249,455,584 shares) 2494 2494
Capital in excess of par value 1,260.9 1,253.2
Retained earnings 19,767.3 19,545.7
Accurrulated other corrprehensive loss (2,586.2) (2,027.7)
Treasury stock, at cost (2025 - 26,979,918 shares; 2024 - 27,083,166 shares) (1,999.1) (1,984.1)
Total Air Products Shareholders’ Equity $16,692.3 $17,036.5
Noncontrolling Interests« 2,046.4 1,637.2
Total Equity $18,738.7 $18,673.7
Total Liabilities and Equity $40,017.2 $39,574.6

@ Includes balances associated with a consolidated variable interest entity ("VIE'), including amounts reflected in "Total Assets" that can only be used to settle obligations of the VIE
of $5,692.4 and $4,393.9 as of 31 Decerrber 2024 and 30 Septerrber 2024, respectively, as well as liabilities of the VIE reflected within "Total Liabilities" for w hich creditors do not
have recourse to the Igeneral credit of Air Products of $3,994.1 and $3,473.4 as of 31 Decenber 2024 and 30 Septenrber 2024, respectively. Refer to Note 3, Variable Interest
Entities, for additional information regarding the NEOM Green Hydrogen Conpany joint venture.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
31 Decenber

(Millions of US. Dollars) 2024 2023
Operating Activities
Net incorme $649.8 $621.6
Less: Net income attributable to noncontralling interests 324 12.3
Net income attributable to Air Products $617.4 $609.3
Adjustments to reconcile income to cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and anortization $366.8 $349.2

Deferred income taxes (6.3) 135

Undistributed earnings of equity method investnents (484) (41.5)

Gain on sale of assets and investments (10.1) (1.4)

Share-based cormrpensation 16.4 13.8

Noncurrent lease receivables 15.0 20.0

Other adjustrents (122.6) 333
Working capital changes that provided (used) cash, excluding effects of acquisitions:

Trade receivables (47.8) 11.8

Inventories 6.4 (48.6)

Other receivables 9.0 (64.5)

Payables and accrued liabilities 30.5 (268.5)

Other working capital (14.6) 0.2
Cash Provided by Operating Activities $811.7 $626.6
Investing Activities
Additions to plant and equipment, including long-termdeposits ($2,117.6) ($1,445.5)
Investment in financing receivables (15.3) (301.8)
Proceeds fromsale of assets and investrrents 344 42
Rurchases of investrrents (117.6) (55.5)
Proceeds frominvestments 5.0 1201
Other investing activities 29.0 12.9
Cash Used for Investing Activities ($2,182.1) ($1,665.6)
Financing Activities
Long-termdebt proceeds $459.2 $810.4
Payments on long-termdebt (12.1) (54.8)
(Decrease) Increase in conmercial paper and short-termborrowings (21.5) 1,020.9
Dividends paid to shareholders (393.6) (388.9)
Proceeds fromstock option exercises 11 63
Investments by noncontroliing interests 280.9 345
Other financing activities (39.8) (64.6)
Cash Provided by Financing Activities $274.2 $1,362.8
Hfect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash (38.0) 21.8
(Decrease) Increase in cash and cash items ($1,134.2) $345.6
Cash and cash items — Beginning of year 2,979.7 1,617.0
Cash and Cash Items — End of Period $1,845.5 $1,962.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(Millions of US. Dollars, except for per share data)

(Unaudited)

Three Vbnths Ended 31 Decenber 2024

Common Capitalin Retained L& Treasury Prodits Non. Total
Stock %a?e\?aslg Eamings ACC Stock ShaEr%ilﬁ;iers' (iﬂ]érrgs'gg Equity

Balance as of 30 September 2024 $249.4 $1,253.2 $19,545.7 ($2,027.7) ($1,984.1) $17,036.5 $1,637.2 $18,673.7

Net income — — 617.4 — — 617.4 324 649.8

Other conprehensive income (loss) — — — (558.5) — (558.5) 103.1 (455.4)

Dividends on conmmn stock

($1.77 per share) — — (393.8) — — (393.8) — (393.8)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (1.4) (1.4)

Share-based conpensation — 14.3 — — — 14.3 — 14.3

Issuance of treasury shares for

stock option and%/w ard plans - 68) - - (150) (218) — (218)

Investrents by noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 281.0 281.0

Rurchase of noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (5.9 (5.9

Other equity transactions — 0.2 (2.0) — — (1.8) — (1.8)

Balance as of 31 December 2024 $249.4 $1,260.9 $19,767.3 ($2,586.2) ($1,999.1) $16,692.3 $2,046.4 $18,738.7

Three Months Ended 31 Decenrber 2023
Capital in . A Non-
Com Retained A Tr Product " Total
Siock Excees o Eamings AGCL® ook ShalraeqML;E,dgrs Gontraling Ecuity

3alance as of 30 September 2023 $249.4 $1,190.5 $17,289.7 ($2,449.4) ($1,967.3) $14,312.9 $1,347.4 $15,660.3
\et income — — 609.3 — — 609.3 12.3 621.6
Other conprehensive income (loss) — — — 3291 — 3291 (138.1) 191.0
Jividends on comon stock

($1.75 per share) — — (389.0) — — (389.0) — (389.0)
Share-based conpensation — 13.8 — — — 13.8 — 13.8
ssuance of treasury shares for

stock option andrgw ard plans - (“4) - - 12 32 - 32
nvestments by noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 34.5 345
Jther equity transactions — 0.1 — — — 0.1 — 0.1
3alance as of 31 December 2023 $249.4 $1,200.0 $17,510.0 ($2,120.3) ($1,966.1) $14,873.0 $1,256.1 $16,129.1

) Accunrulated other conprehensive loss

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Millions of U.S. Dollars, unless otherwise indicated

©CEONOOOPLWN -~

Basis of Presentation and Major Accounting Policies

New Accounting Guidance
Variable Interest Entities

Revenue Recognition
Inventories

Goodwill

Financial Instruments
Fair Value Measurements
Retirement Benefits

Commitments and Contingencies
Share-Based Compensation
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Eamings per Share

Supplemental Information

Business Segment Information
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1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND MAJOR ACCOUNTING POLICIES

As used in this report, unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms “we”, “our”, “us”, the “Company”, "Air Products", or “registrant” include our
controlled subsidiaries and affiliates.

Basis of Presentation

The interim consolidated financial statements of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. and its subsidiaries included herein have been prepared by us, without
audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Certain information and footnote disclosures
normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") have been condensed or
omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. In our opinion, the accompanying statements reflect adjustments necessary to fairly present the financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows for those periods indicated and contain adequate disclosures to make the information presented not
misleading. Adjustments included herein are of a normal, recurring nature unless otherwise disclosed in the notes to the interim consolidated financial
statements.

To fully understand the basis of presentation, the interim consolidated financial statements and related notes included herein should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 30
September 2024 (the "2024 Form 10-K"), which was filed with the SEC on 21 November 2024. Results of operations for interim periods are not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a full year.

Major Accounting Policies

Refer to our 2024 Form 10-K for a description of major accounting policies. There have been no significant changes to these accounting policies during
the first three months of fiscal year 2025.

2. NEW ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

New Accounting Guidance to be Implemented
Climate-Related Disclosures

In March 2024, the SEC issued Release No. 33-11275, “The Enhancement and Standardization of Climate-Related Disclosures for Investors", which
includes final rules for providing qualitative and quantitative disclosures regarding certain climate-related topics on an annual basis. As a result of ongoing
litigation in the U.S., the SEC issued an order in April 2024 to stay the effectiveness of the rules while judicial review is pending. If the rules are not
owertumed and take effect on schedule, prospective adoption will be permitted with phased-in compliance beginning with our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ending 30 September 2026. We are evaluating the impact these rules will have on our disclosures.

Reportable Segment Disclosures

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU’) No. 2023-07, "Segment Reporting
(Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures". The update includes enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses and
identification of the chief operating decision maker. The update will be effective in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending 30
September 2025 as well as interim periods thereafter, although early adoption is permitted. The amendments must be applied retrospectively to all prior
periods presented. We are evaluating the impact this update will have on our disclosures.

Income Tax Disclosures

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740—Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures”, to expand income tax
disclosures, primarily through disaggregation requirements for the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The update will be effective in our Annual
Report on Form 10K for the fiscal year ending 30 September 2026, although early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied on a
prospective basis with a retrospective option. We are evaluating the impact this update will have on our disclosures.

11
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Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures
(Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses”, which requires additional disclosures of certain costs and expenses, including
purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization, as well as selling expenses in the notes to the financial
statements. In January 2025, the FASB clarified that the update will be effective in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending 30
September 2028 as well as interim periods thereafter, although early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied either prospectively after
the effective date or retrospectively to any or all periods presented. We are evaluating the impact this update will have on our disclosures.

3. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

We are the primary beneficiary of the NEOM Green Hydrogen Company joint venture ("NGHC"), which is a variable interest entity ("VIE") that is
consolidated in our Middle East and India segment. We are not the primary beneficiary of any other material VIEs. We account for a VIE for which we
have an equity interest and exercise significant influence but are not the primary beneficiary, such as the Jazan Integrated Gasification and Power
Company joint venture ("JIGPC"), as an equity method investment. Additionally, World Energy, LLC ("World Energy") is a VIE for which we havwe no
equity interest and are not the primary beneficiary. Our variable interests in NGHC, JIGPC, and World Energy are further discussed below.

NGHC Joint Venture

The NEOM Green Hydrogen Project is a multi-billion dollar green hydrogen-based ammonia production facility that is being constructed in NEOM City,
Saudi Arabia. Owned and operated by NGHC, the facility will be powered by renewable energy to produce green ammonia for Air Products as the
exclusive offtaker under a long-term take-if-tendered agreement. We intend to transport the green ammonia around the world to be dissociated to
produce green hydrogen for transportation and industrial markets.

Air Products is an equal owner in NGHC with our joint venture partners, ACWA Power and NEOM Company. While we only hold one-third of the voting
interests in the joint venture, substantially all the activities of the joint venture involve or are conducted on behalf of Air Products. Since we have
disproportionately few voting rights relative to our economic interests in the joint venture, we determined that NGHC is a VIE. In addition, we determined
that we are the primary beneficiary of NGHC since we have the power to unilaterally direct certain significant activities, including key design and
construction decisions, and we share power with our joint venture partners related to other activities that are significant to the economic performance of
NGHC. Therefore, we consolidate NGHC within the Middle East and India segment.

Under the project financing discussed below, the assets of NGHC can only be used to settle obligations of the joint venture, and creditors of NGHC do
not hawve recourse to the general credit of Air Products. A table summarizing balances associated with NGHC as reflected on our consolidated balance
sheets is provided on page 13.

Project Financing

In May 2023, NGHC finalized the $6.7 billion engineering, procurement, and construction ("EPC") agreement with Air Products named as the main
contractor and system integrator for the facility. NGHC secured project financing that is non-recourse to Air Products of approximately $6.1 billion, which
is expected to fund about 73% of the project and will be drawn over the construction period. At the same time, NGHC secured additional credit facilities
that are non-recourse to Air Products, which total approximately $500 and are primarily for NGHC's working capital needs. Total principal borrowings
were $3.8 billion and $3.3 billion as of 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively. These balances include short-term borrowings of $60.4
and $51.6, respectively, from a 5.70% veriable rate Saudi Riyal facility. The remaining borrowings include the long-term facilities that are reflected net of
unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs within "Long-term debt" on our consolidated balance sheets.
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In May 2023, NGHC entered into floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps designed to hedge the long-term variable rate debt facilities available under the
project financing during the construction period of the project. We discontinued cash flow hedge accounting for certain swaps during the third quarter of
fiscal year 2024. As a result of the de-designation, unrealized gains and losses are recorded to "Other non-operating income (expense), net" on our
consolidated income statements. During the first quarter of fiscal year 2025, we recognized an unrealized gain of $38.8 ($10.3 attributable to Air
Products after tax). The amount of the unrealized gain attributable to our noncontrolling partners was $25.2. Refer to Note 7, Financial Instruments, for

additional information.

NGHC Balance Sheet
The table below summarizes balances associated with NGHC as reflected on our consolidated balance sheets:

31 December 30 September

2024 2024

Assets
Cash and cash items $24.0 $34.5
Trade receivables, net 15.4 6.7
Prepaid expenses 30.7 31.2
Other receivables and current assets 126.3 120.6
Total Current Assets $196.4 $193.0
Plant and equipment, net 5,015.4 3,929.9
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 226.2 233.9
Other noncurrent assets 254.4 371
Total Noncurrent Assets $5,496.0 $4,200.9
Total Assets $5,692.4 $4,393.9
Liabilities
Payables and accrued liabilities $358.3 $308.4
Accrued income taxes 0.8 2.0
Short-term borrowings 60.4 51.6
Total Current Liabilities $419.5 $362.0
Long-term debt 3,499.4 3,053.3
Noncurrent operating lease liabilities 19.7 24.5
Other noncurrent liabilities 354 304
Deferred income taxes 20.1 3.2
Total Noncurrent Liabilities $3,574.6 $3,111.4
Total Liabilities $3,994.1 $3,473.4
Equity
Accumulated other comprehensive income $61.8 $13.8
Noncontrolling interests 1,255.3 937.6
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JIGPC Joint Venture

JIGPC is a joint venture with Saudi Aramco Power Company (a subsidiary of Aramco), ACWA Power, and Air Products Qudra (“APQ”). JIGPC entered
into project financing to purchase power blocks, gasifiers, air separation units, syngas cleanup assets, and utilities to supply electricity, steam,
hydrogen, and utilities to Aramco’s refinery and terminal complex under a 25-year agreement, which commenced in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022.
JIGPC recorded financing receivables upon acquisition of the assets and recognizes financing income over the supply term.

We determined JIGPC is a VIE for which we exercise significant influence but are not the primary beneficiary as we do not have the power to direct the
activities that are most significant to its economic performance. Instead, these activities, including plant dispatch, operating and maintenance decisions,
budgeting, capital expenditures, and financing, require unanimous approval of the owners or are controlled by the customer. Accordingly, we account for
our 55% investment, which includes 4% that is attributable to the noncontrolling partner of APQ, under the equity method within the Middle East and
India segment. The carrying value of our investment, including amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests, totaled $2,909.0 and $2,871.2 as of 31
December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively. Our loss exposure is limited to our investment in the joint venture.

Our investment primarily consists of shareholder loans that qualify as in-substance common stock in the joint venture. Certain shareholders receive a
preferred cash distribution pursuant to the joint venture agreement, which specifies each shareholder's share of income after considering the amount of
cash available for distribution. As such, the eamings attributable to Air Products may not be proportionate to our ownership interest in the venture.

World Energy

In November 2023, we finalized an agreement to purchase a sustainable aviation fuel (‘SAF”) facility in Paramount, Califoria from World Energy. We
determined the acquisition contains an embedded sales-type lease. As a result, we are accounting for the transaction as a financing arrangement and
recorded a financing receivable, which had a carrying value of approximately $300 as of 31 December 2024.

At the time of acquisition, we entered into a Master Project Agreement (“MPA”) containing terms for operation of the acquired facility as well as amended
terms for the construction and operation of an SAF expansion project subject to construction at the same location. The MPA includes a tolling
arrangement whereby we will receive feedstock from and produce renewable fuels for World Energy over a term that will conclude 15 years after
onstream of the expansion project with the option to renew for two five-year terms. This project is currently on hold pending receipt of permits.

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, we determined that World Energy is a VIE and our financing receivable represents a variable interest in World
Energy. We are not the primary beneficiary as we do not have control over their key operating decisions, including feedstock supply, production of
renewable fuels, and negotiating and executing supply agreements with customers. As of 31 December 2024, our maximum exposure to loss is
approximately $2.1 billion. This primarily includes project-related spending of approximately $1.5 billion, of which $1.2 billion is capitalized within “Plant
and equipment, net” and $336 is deferred within "Other noncurrent assets", and approximately $215 for open purchase commitments, all of which relate
to the SAF expansion project. Our exposure also includes the financing receivable of $300 discussed above, which we begin to collect at the onstream
of the expansion project, as well as trade receivables and accrued interest. The financing receivable is currently on non-accrual status as World Energy
made no interest payments, and therefore we recorded no interest income, during the first quarter of fiscal year 2025.
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4. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The majority of our revenue is generated from our sale of gas customers within the regional industrial gases segments. We distribute gases through
either our on-site or merchant supply mode depending on various factors, including the customer's volume requirements and location. We also design
and manufacture equipment for air separation, hydrocarbon recovery and purification, and liquid helium and liquid hydrogen transport and storage. The

Corporate and other segment senes our sale of equipment customers.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The tables below present our consolidated sales disaggregated by supply mode for each of our reportable segments for the first three months of fiscal
years 2025 and 2024. We believe this presentation best depicts the nature, timing, type of customer, and contract terms for our sales.

Three Months Ended 31 December 2024

Middle East Corporate

Americas Asia Europe and India and other Total %
On-site $713.1 $529.3 $228.3 $17.6 $— $1,488.3 51 %
Merchant 574.5 287.8 468.9 15.2 — 1,346.4 46 %
Sale of equipment — — — — 96.8 96.8 3%
Total $1,287.6 $817.1 $697.2 $32.8 $96.8 $2,931.5 100 %

Three Months Ended 31 December 2023
Middle East Corporate

Americas Asia Europe and India and other Total %
On-site $714.1 $503.2 $259.2 $17.5 $— $1,494.0 50 %
Merchant 538.0 290.6 472.0 17.9 — 1,318.5 44 %
Sale of equipment — — — — 184.9 184.9 6 %
Total $1,252.1 $793.8 $731.2 $35.4 $184.9 $2,997.4 100 %

Interest income associated with financing and lease arrangements accounted for approximately 1% of our total consolidated sales during the three

months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
Remaining Performance Obligations

As of 31 December 2024, the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations is estimated to be approximately $26 billion. This amount
includes fixed-charge contract provisions associated with our on-site and sale of equipment supply modes. We estimate that approximately half of this
revenue Will be recognized over the next five years and the balance thereatter.

Our remaining performance obligations do not include (1) expected revenue associated with new on-site plants that are not yet on-stream; (2)

consideration associated with contracts that have an expected duration of less than one year; and (3) variable consideration for which we recognize
revenue at the amount to which we hawe the right to inwoice, including energy cost pass-through to customers.

In the future, actual amounts will differ due to events outside of our control, including, but not limited to, inflationary price escalations; currency exchange

rates; and amended, terminated, or renewed contracts.
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Contract Balances
The table below details balances arising from contracts with customers:

31 December 30 September
Balance Sheet Location 2024 2024
Assets
Contract assets — current Other receivables and current assets $100.1 $76.2
Contract fulfillment costs — current Other receivables and current assets 96.9 103.7
Liabilities
Contract liabilities — current Payables and accrued liabilities $202.8 $240.0
Contract liabilities — noncurrent Other noncurrent liabilities 283.2 290.0

During the first three months of fiscal year 2025, we recognized sales of approximately $55 associated with sale of equipment contracts that were
included within our current contract liabilities as of 30 September 2024.

5.INVENTORIES

The components of inventories are as follows:

31 December 30 September
2024 2024
Finished goods $189.8 $210.2
Work in process 47.9 42.2
Raw materials, supplies, and other 501.3 513.6
Inventories $739.0 $766.0

6. GOODWILL
Changes to the carrying amount of consolidated goodwill by segment for the three months ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

Middle East and Corporate and

Americas Asia Europe India other Total
Gooawill, net as of 30 September 2024 $146.3 $174.7 $534.3 $15.8 $34.0 $905.1
Currency translation (4.2) (4.4) (29.7) — (0.3) (38.6)
Goodwill, net as of 31 December 2024 $142.1 $170.3 $504.6 $15.8 $33.7 $866.5
31 December 30 September
2024 2024
Goodwill, gross $1,131.5 $1,199.8
Accumulated impairment losses® (265.0) (294.7)
Goodwill, net $866.5 $905.1

A Accumulated impairment losses are attributable to our Latin America reporting unit ("LASA) within the Americas segment and include the impact of currency
translation.

We review goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of goodwill might not be recoverable.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Currency Price Risk Management

Our eamings, cash flows, and financial position are exposed to foreign currency risk from foreign currency-denominated transactions and net
investments in foreign operations. It is our policy to seek to minimize our cash flow wolatility from changes in currency exchange rates. This is
accomplished by identifying and evaluating the risk that our cash flows will change in value due to changes in exchange rates and by executing
strategies necessary to manage such exposures. Our objective is to maintain economically balanced currency risk management strategies that provide
adequate downside protection.

Forward Exchange Contracts

We enter into forward exchange contracts to reduce the cash flow exposure to foreign currency fluctuations associated with highly anticipated cash
flows and certain firm commitments, such as the purchase of plant and equipment. We also enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge the cash
flow exposure on intercompany loans and third-party debt. This portfolio of forward exchange contracts consists primarily of Euros and U.S. Dollars. The
maximum remaining term of any forward exchange contract currently outstanding and designated as a cash flow hedge at 31 December 2024 is 2.9
years.

Forward exchange contracts are also used to hedge the value of investments in certain foreign subsidiaries and affiliates by creating a liability in a
currency in which we have a net equity position. The primary currency pair in this portfolio of forward exchange contracts is Euros and U.S. Dallars.

We also utilize forward exchange contracts that are not designated as hedges. These contracts are used to economically hedge foreign currency-
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, primarily working capital. The primary objective of these forward exchange contracts is to protect the value
of foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities from the effects of wolatility in foreign exchange rates that might occur prior to their
receipt or settlement. This portfolio of forward exchange contracts consists of multiple foreign currency pairs, with a profile that changes from time to
time depending on our business activity and sourcing decisions.

The table below summarizes our outstanding currency price risk management instruments:

31 December 2024 30 September 2024
Years Years
US$ Average US$ Average
Notional Matunty Notional Matunty
Forward Exchange Contracts:

Cash flow hedges $3,685.3 0.5 $4,003.2 0.6
Net investment hedges 850.6 22 911.4 25
Not designated 1,333.7 0.3 1,880.0 0.3
Total Forward Exchange Contracts $5,869.6 0.7 $6,794.6 0.8

We also use foreign currency-denominated debt to hedge the foreign currency exposures of our net investment in certain foreign subsidiaries. The
designated foreign currency-denominated debt and related accrued interest was €1,927.1 million ($2,004.5) at 31 December 2024 and €1,905.7 million
($2,121.9) at 30 September 2024. The designated foreign currency-denominated debt is presented within "Long-term debt" and "Current portion of long-
term debt" on the consolidated balance sheets.

Debt Portfolio Management

It is our policy to identify, on a continuing basis, the need for debt capital and to evaluate the financial risks inherent in funding the Company with debt
capital. Reflecting the result of this ongoing review, we manage our debt portfolio and hedging program with the intent to (1) reduce funding risk with
respect to borrowings made by us to presene our access to debt capital and provide debt capital as required for funding and liquidity purposes, and (2)
manage the aggregate interest rate risk and the debt portfolio in accordance with certain debt management parameters.
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Interest Rate Management Contracts

We enter into interest rate swaps to change the fixed/variable interest rate mix of our debt portfolio in order to maintain the percentage of fixed- and
variable-rate debt within the parameters set by management. In accordance with these parameters, the agreements are used to manage interest rate
risks and costs inherent in our debt portfolio. Our interest rate management portfolio generally consists of fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps (which are
designated as fair value hedges), pre-issuance interest rate swaps and treasury locks (which hedge the interest rate risk associated with anticipated
fixed-rate debt issuances and are designated as cash flow hedges), and floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps (which are designated as cash flow hedges).
As of 31 December 2024, the outstanding interest rate swaps were denominated in U.S. Dollars. The notional amount of the interest rate swap
agreements is equal to or less than the designated debt being hedged. When interest rate swaps are used to hedge variable-rate debt, the indices of the
swaps and the debt to which they are designated are the same. It is our policy not to enter into any interest rate management contracts which lever a
mowe in interest rates on a greater than one-to-one basis.

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swap Contracts

We enter into cross currency interest rate swap contracts when our risk management function deems necessary. These contracts may entail both the
exchange of fixed- and floating-rate interest payments periodically over the life of the agreement and the exchange of one currency for another currency
at inception and at a specified future date. The contracts are used to hedge either certain net investments in foreign operations or non-functional currency
cash flows related to intercompany loans. The current cross currency interest rate swap portfolio consists of fixed-to-fixed swaps primarily between the
U.S. Doallar and each of the Chinese Renminbi, Indian Rupee, and Chilean Peso.

The table below summarizes our outstanding interest rate management contracts and cross currency interest rate swaps:

31 December 2024 30 September 2024
Years Years
Uss Average Average Average Uss Average Average Average

Notional Pay % Receive % Maturity Notional Pay % Receive % Maturity
Interest rate swaps
(fair value hedge) $800.0 SOFR 1.64 % 27 $800.0 SOFR 1.64 % 3.0
Interest rate swa
(cash flow hedge)® $2,372.2 272% SOFR 21.0 $2,159.3 272% SOFR 21.2
Interest rate swa
(not designated)® $506.7 3.27 % SOFR 20.2 $461.4 3.27 % SOFR 20.5
Cross currency interest rate
swaps $— —% —% 0.0 $16.7 5.39 % 3.64 % 0.2
(net investment hedge)
Cross currency interest rate
swaps $381.3 4.97 % 2.84 % 1.8 $410.6 4.96 % 2.80 % 1.9
(cash flow hedge)
Cross currency interest rate
swaps $— —% —% 0.0 $34.7 5.39 % 3.64 % 0.2
(not designated)

@ In May 2023, NGHC entered into floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps designed to hedge long-termvariable rate debt facilities available under non-recourse project financing during
the construction period of the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project. During the third quarter of fiscal year 2024, we discontinued cash flow hedge accounting for certain instruments that
will remain de-designated until outstanding borrowings fromthe available financing are commensurate with the notional value of the instrurrents.
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The table below provides the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheet related to cumulative basis adjustments for fair value hedges:

Cumulative hedging adjustment, included in carrying

Carrying amounts of hedged item amount
31 December 30 September 31 December 30 September
Balance Sheet Location 2024 2024 2024 2024
Current portion of long-term debt $544.4 $— ($5.2) $—
Long-term debt $1,502.3 $2,057.1 ($42.3) ($36.6)
The table below summarizes the fair value and balance sheet location of our outstanding derivatives:
Balance Sheet 31 December 30 September Balance Sheet 31 December 30 September
Location 2024 2024 Location 2024
Derivatives Designated as Hedging
Instruments:
Other receivables Payables and
Forward exchange contracts and current assets $59.5 $74.5 accrued liabilities $143.6 $21.6
Other receivables Payables and
Interest rate management contracts and current assets 4.8 1.2 accrued liabilities 52 1.2
Other noncurrent Other noncurrent
Forward exchange contracts assets 22.3 9.6 liabilities 10.7 15.6
Other noncurrent Other noncurrent
Interest rate management contracts assets 224.9 34.3 liabilities 43.1 40.2
Total Derivatives Designated as
Hedging Instruments $311.5 $119.6 $202.6 $78.6
Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments:
Other receivables Payables and
Forward exchange contracts and current assets $15.8 $16.5 accrued liabilities $13.4 $21.8
Other receivables Payables and
Interest rate management contracts and current assets — 1.7 accrued liabilities — —
Other noncurrent Other noncurrent
Forward exchange contracts assets 04 0.2 liabilities — 0.2
Other noncurrent Other noncurrent
Interest rate management contracts assets 41.6 4.6 liabilities — —
Total Derivatives Not Designated
as Hedging Instruments $57.8 $23.0 $13.4 $22.0
Total Derivatives $369.3 $142.6 $216.0 $100.6

Refer to Note 8, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value, describes the method for measuring fair value, and provides additional disclosures

regarding fair value measurements.
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The tables below summarize gains (losses) recognized in other comprehensive income during the period related to our net investment and cash flow

hedging relationships:

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Net Investment Hedging Relationships
Forward exchange contracts $53.9 ($31.8)
Foreign currency debt 140.4 (89.9)
Cross cumrency interest rate swaps 0.4 (1.9)
Total Amount Recognized in OCI 194.7 (123.6)
Tax effects 47.5) 30.1
Net Amount Recognized in OCI $147.2 ($93.5)
Three Months Ended
31 December
2024 2023
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships
Forward exchange contracts ($177.8) $115.1
Forward exchange contracts, excluded components (1.5) (9.0)
Other® 223.0 (261.7)
Total Amount Recognized in OCI 43.7 (155.6)
Tax effects 22.0 (5.5)
Net Amount Recognized in OCI $65.7 ($161.1)

(A Other primarilyincludes interest rate and cross currency interest rate swaps for which excluded components are recognized in “Payables and accrued
liabilities” and “Other receivables and current assets” as a component of accrued interest payable and accrued interest receivable, respectively. These

excluded components are recorded in “Other non-operating income (expense), net” over the life of the cross currency interest rate swap. Other also includes the

recognition of our share of gains and losses, net of tax, related to interest rate swaps held by our equity affiliates.
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The table below summarizes the location and amounts recognized in income related to our cash flow and fair value hedging relationships by contract
type:

Three Months Ended 31 December

Other Non-Operatin
Sales Cost of Sales Interest Expense Income (Expense), Net
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Total presented in consolidated income
statements that includes effects of
hedging below $2,931.5 $2,997.4 $2,016.5 $2,067.2 $42.6 $53.5 $38.9 ($14.8)

ﬁ;ain) Loss Effects of Cash Flow
edging:
Forward Exchange Contracts:

Amount reclassified from OCl into

income $0.2 $0.3 $0.9 $1.3 $— $— $129.3 ($74.9)

Amount excluded from effectiveness

testing recognized in eamings based

on amortization approach — — — — — — 6.1 5.7
Other:

Amount reclassified from OCl into

income — — — — 0.5 1.3 (17.3) 11.3
Total (Gain) Loss Reclassified from
OCl to Income 0.2 0.3 0.9 1.3 0.5 1.3 118.1 (57.9)
Tax effects — 0.1) 0.1) (0.3) (0.2 (0.5) (27.5) 13.7
Net (Gain) Loss Reclassified from
OCl to Income $0.2 $0.2 $0.8 $1.0 $0.3 $0.8 $90.6 ($44.2)
Gain) Loss Effects of Fair Value

dging:
Other:

Hedged items $— $— $— $— ($10.9) $26.1 $— $—

Derivatives designated as hedging

instruments — — — — 10.9 (26.1) — —
Total (Gain) Loss Recognized in
Income $— $— $— $— $— $— $— $—

The tables below summarize the location and amounts recognized in income related to our derivatives not designated as hedging instruments by
contract type:

Three Months Ended 31 December
Other Non-Operating Income

Other Income (Expense), Net (Expense), Net
2024 2023 2024 2023
The Effects of Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments:
Forward exchange contracts ($3.9) $3.2 ($1.9) ($1.2)
De-designated interest rate swaps — — (38.8) —
Other — — (1.7) 0.8
Total (Gain) Loss Recognized in Income ($3.9) $3.2 ($42.4) ($0.4)

The amount of unrealized gains and losses related to cash flow hedges as of 31 December 2024 that are expected to be reclassified to eamings in the
next twelve months is not material.
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The cash flows related to derivative contracts are generally reported in the operating activities section of the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Credit Risk-Related Contingent Features

Certain derivative instruments are executed under agreements that require us to maintain a minimum credit rating with both Standard & Poor’'s and
Moody'’s. If our credit rating falls below this threshold, the counterparty to the derivative instruments has the right to request full collateralization on the
derivatives’ net liability position. The net liability position of derivatives with credit risk-related contingent features was $61.9 and $47.3 as of 31 December
2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively. Because our current credit rating is above the various pre-established thresholds, no collateral has been
posted on these liability positions.

Counterparty Credit Risk Management

We execute financial derivative transactions with counterparties that are highly rated financial institutions, all of which are investment grade at this time.
Some of our underlying derivative agreements give us the right to require the institution to post collateral if its credit rating falls below the pre-established
thresholds with Standard & Poor's, Moody'’s, or Fitch. The collateral that the counterparties would be required to post was $293.1 and $57.2 as of 31
December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively. No financial institution is required to post collateral at this time, as all have credit ratings at or
abowe threshold.

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as an exit price, or the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad lewvels as follows:
Level 1T — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs that are obsenable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of
the asset or liability.

Level 3 — Inputs that are unobsenvable for the asset or liability based on our own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use
in pricing the asset or liability.

The methods and assumptions used to measure the fair value of financial instruments are as follows:

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments primarily include time deposits with original maturities greater than three months and less than one year. We estimated the fair
value of our short-term investments, which approximates carrying value as of the balance sheet date, using Lewvel 2 inputs within the fair value hierarchy.
Lewvel 2 measurements were based on current interest rates for similar investments with comparable credit risk and time to maturity.

Derivatives

The fair value of our interest rate management contracts and forward exchange contracts are quantified using the income approach and are based on
estimates using standard pricing models. These models consider the value of future cash flows as of the balance sheet date, discounted to a present
value using discount factors that match both the time to maturity and currency of the underlying instruments. These standard pricing models utilize
inputs that are derived from or corroborated by obsernvable market data such as interest rate yield cunves as well as currency spot and forward rates;
therefore, the fair value of our derivatives is classified as a Level 2 measurement. On an ongoing basis, we randomly test a subset of our valuations
against valuations received from the transaction’s counterparty to validate the accuracy of our standard pricing models. Counterparties to these derivative
contracts are highly rated financial institutions.

Refer to Note 7, Financial Instruments, for a description of derivative instruments, including details related to the balance sheet line classifications.
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Long-term Debt, Including Related Party

The fair value of our debt is based on estimates using standard pricing models that consider the value of future cash flows as of the balance sheet date,
discounted to a present value using discount factors that match both the time to maturity and currency of the underlying instruments. These standard
valuation models utilize obsenable market data such as interest rate yield curves and currency spot rates; therefore, the fair value of our debt is
classified as a Level 2 measurement.

The carrying values and fair values of financial instruments were as follows:

31 December 2024 30 September 2024
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Assets
Derivatives

Forward exchange contracts $98.0 $98.0 $100.8 $100.8

Interest rate management contracts 271.3 271.3 41.8 41.8
Liabilities
Derivatives

Forward exchange contracts $167.7 $167.7 $59.2 $59.2

Interest rate management contracts 48.3 48.3 41.4 41.4
Long-term debt, including current portion and related
party 14,402.3 13,900.1 14,144.4 13,897.3

The carrying amounts reported on the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash items, short-term investments, trade receivables, payables and
accrued liabilities, accrued income taxes, and short-term borrowings approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.
Accordingly, these items have been excluded from the abowe table.

The table below summarizes assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

31 December 2024 30 September 2024
Total Lewel 1 Lewel 2 Lewel 3 Total Lewel 1 Lewel 2 Lewel 3

Assets at Fair Value
Derivatives

Forward exchange contracts $98.0 $— $98.0 $— $100.8 $— $100.8 $—

Interest rate management contracts 271.3 — 271.3 — 41.8 — 41.8 —
Total Assets at Fair Value $369.3 $— $369.3 $— $142.6 $— $142.6 $—
Liabilities at Fair Value
Derivatives

Forward exchange contracts $167.7 $— $167.7 $— $59.2 $— $59.2 $—

Interest rate management contracts 48.3 — 48.3 — 41.4 — 41.4 —
Total Liabilities at Fair Value $216.0 $— $216.0 $— $100.6 $— $100.6 $—
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9. RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The components of net periodic cost for our defined benefit pension plans for the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Pension Benefits

2024 2023
Three Months Ended 31 December U.S. Intemational Total U.S. International Total
Seniice cost $2.3 $2.9 $5.2 $2.4 $2.8 $5.2
Non-senice cost:
Interest cost 29.9 13.9 43.8 33.7 14.8 48.5
Expected retum on plan assets (33.2) (14.7) 47.9) (30.0) (11.6) (41.6)
Prior senice cost amortization 0.3 0.2 0.5 0.3 0.2 0.5
Actuarial loss amortization 1.7 24 14.1 14.3 3.2 17.5
Other — 0.1 0.1 — 0.1 0.1
Net Periodic Cost $11.0 $4.8 $15.8 $20.7 $9.5 $30.2

Our senice costs are primarily included within "Cost of sales" and "Selling and administrative expense" on our consolidated income statements. The
amount of senice costs capitalized in the first three months of fiscal years 2025 and 2024 were not material. The non-senice related impacts are
presented outside operating income within "Other non-operating income (expense), net."

For the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, our cash contributions to funded pension plans and benefit payments under unfunded pension
plans were $8.2 and $12.0, respectively. Total contributions for fiscal year 2025 are expected to be approximately $30 to $40. During fiscal year 2024,
total contributions were $34.7.

During the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, we recognized actuarial gain amortization of $0.3 and $0.1, respectively, for our other
postretirement benefits plan.

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

We are involved in various legal proceedings, including commercial, competition, environmental, intellectual property, regulatory, product liability, and
insurance matters. We do not currently believe there are any legal proceedings for which it is reasonably possible, individually or in the aggregate, to
have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

In September 2010, the Brazilian Administrative Council for Economic Defense ("CADE") issued a decision against our Brazilian subsidiary, Air Products
Brasil Ltda., and several other Brazilian industrial gas companies for alleged anticompetitive activities. CADE imposed a civil fine of R$179.2 million
(approximately $29 at 31 December 2024) on Air Products Brasil Ltda. This fine was based on a recommendation by a unit of the Brazilian Ministry of
Justice, following an investigation beginning in 2003, which alleged violation of competition laws with respect to the sale of industrial and medical gases.
The fines are based on a percentage of our total revenue in Brazil in 2003.

We hawe denied the allegations made by the authorities and filed an appeal in October 2010 with the Brazilian courts. On 6 May 2014, our appeal was
granted and the fine against Air Products Brasil Ltda. was dismissed. CADE has appealed that ruling and the matter remains pending. We, with advice
of our outside legal counsel, have assessed the status of this matter and have concluded that, although an adverse final judgment after exhausting all
appeals is possible, such a judgment is not probable. As a result, no provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements. In the event of
an adwerse final judgment, we estimate the maximum possible loss to be the full amount of the fine of R$179.2 miillion (approximately $29 at 31
December 2024) plus interest accrued thereon until final disposition of the proceedings.
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Environmental

In the normal course of business, we are involved in legal proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability
Act ("CERCLA," the federal Superfund law), the Resource Conservation and Recowvery Act ("RCRA"), and similar state environmental laws relating to the
designation of certain sites for investigation or remediation. Presently, there are 26 sites on which a final settlement or remediation has not been
achieved where we, usually along with others, have been designated as a potentially responsible party by environmental authorities or are otherwise
engaged in investigation or remediation, including cleanup activity at certain of our former manufacturing sites. We continually monitor these sites for
which we hawe environmental exposure.

Accruals for environmental loss contingencies are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be
reasonably estimated. As of 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, the consolidated balance sheets included an accrual of $79.6 and $79.1,
respectively, primarily as part of other noncurrent liabilities. These environmental liabilities will be paid over a period of up to 30 years. We estimate the
exposure for environmental loss contingencies to range from $79 to a reasonably possible upper exposure of $92 as of 31 December 2024.

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites in future periods may vary from the estimates, given inherent uncertainties in evaluating environmental
exposures. Using reasonably possible altemative assumptions of the exposure level could result in an increase to the environmental accrual. Due to
these inherent uncertainties, a significant increase to the reasonably possible upper exposure level could occur if a new site is designated, the scope of
remediation is increased, a different remediation altemative is identified, or a significant increase in our proportionate share occurs. We do not expect
that any sum we may hawe to pay in connection with environmental matters in excess of the amounts recorded or disclosed above would have a material
adwverse impact on our financial position or results of operations in any one year.

Pace
At 31 December 2024, $54.5 of the environmental accrual was related to our facility in Pace, Florida.

In 2006, we sold our Amines business, which included operations at the Pace facility and recognized a liability for retained environmental obligations
associated with remediation activities at the facility. We are required by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection ("FDEP") and the United
States Environmental Protection Agency ("USEPA") to continue our remediation efforts. We recognized a before-tax expense of $42 in fiscal year 2006
in results from discontinued operations and recorded an environmental accrual of $42 in continuing operations on the consolidated balance sheets.

In the first quarter of 2015, we entered into a consent order with the FDEP requiring us to continue our remediation efforts at the Pace facility and
complete a cost review every five years. In fiscal year 2020, we completed an updated cost review of the environmental remediation status at the Pace
facility and increased our environmental accrual for this site by $19 in continuing operations on the consolidated balance sheet and recognized a before-
tax expense of $19 in results from discontinued operations. In fiscal year 2024, we completed our most recent cost review of the environmental
remediation status at the Pace facility. Based on our review, we expect ongoing activities to continue for 30 years. Additionally, we increased our
estimate of near-term spending for an improved groundwater recovery system and future annual costs due to higher inflation. As a result of these
changes, we increased our envronmental accrual for this site by $19 in continuing operations on the consolidated balance sheets and recognized a
before-tax expense of $19 in results from discontinued operations in fiscal year 2024. There have been no significant changes to the estimated exposure.

25



Table of Contents

We hawe implemented many of the remedial corrective measures at the Pace facility required under the 1995 consent orders issued by the FDEP and
the USEPA. Contaminated soils have been bioremediated, and the treated soils have been secured in a lined on-site corrective action management unit.
Sevweral groundwater recovery systems have been installed to contain and remove contamination from groundwater. We completed an extensive
assessment of the site to determine the efficacy of existing measures, what additional corrective measures may be needed, and whether newer
remediation technologies that were not available in the 1990s might be better suited for groundwater remediation. Based on assessment results, we
completed a focused feasibility study that identified altemative approaches that may more effectively remove contaminants. We continue to review
altemative remedial approaches with the FDEP, and we completed additional field work during 2021 to support the design of an improved groundwater
recovery network. This network targets areas of higher contaminant concentration and awids areas of high groundwater iron which has proven to be a
significant operability issue for the project. The design of the optimized recovery system was completed in fiscal year 2024, with construction expected
to begin in fiscal year 2025. In fiscal years 2025 and 2026, we expect to connect the additional groundwater recovery wells and ancillary equipment to
the existing groundwater recovery system. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2024, we completed an updated cost review which resulted in a change in
assumptions regarding future operating costs as discussed abowe.

Pasadena
At 31 December 2024, $10.2 of the environmental accrual was related to a production facility site in Pasadena, Texas.

During fiscal year 2012, management committed to permanently shutting down our polyurethane intermediates ("PUI") production facility in Pasadena,
Texas. In shutting down and dismantling the facility, we have undertaken certain obligations related to soil and groundwater contaminants. We have been
pumping and treating groundwater to control off-site contaminant migration in compliance with regulatory requirements and under the approval of the
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality ("TCEQ"). We estimate that the pump and treat system will continue to operate until 2042.

We continue to perform additional work to address other environmental obligations at the site. This additional work includes remediating impacted soils
as required, investigating groundwater west of the former PUI facility, continuing post closure care for two closed RCRA surface impoundment units, and
maintaining engineering controls. Additionally, we have conducted an interim corrective action to treat impacted soils as recommended in the TCEQ
2019 Annual Report. In 2012, we estimated the total exposure at this site to be $13. There have been no significant changes to the estimated exposure.

11. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Our outstanding share-based compensation programs include deferred stock units and stock options. During the three months ended 31 December
2024, we granted market-based and time-based deferred stock units. Under all programs, the terms of the awards are fixed at the grant date. We issue

shares from treasury stock upon the payout of deferred stock units and the exercise of stock options. As of 31 December 2024, there were 0.8 million
shares awvailable for future grant under our Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP"), which is shareholder approved.

Share-based compensation cost recognized on the consolidated income statements is summarized below:

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Before-tax share-based compensation cost $16.5 $13.6
Income tax benefit (4.0) (3.3)
After-tax share-based compensation cost $12.5 $10.3

Before-tax share-based compensation cost is primarily included in "Selling and administrative expense" on our consolidated income statements. The
amount of share-based compensation cost capitalized in the first three months of fiscal years 2025 and 2024 was not material.
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Deferred Stock Units

During the three months ended 31 December 2024, we granted 78,770 market-based deferred stock units. The market-based deferred stock units are
eamed ower the performance period beginning 1 October 2024 and ending 30 September 2027, conditioned on the level of our total shareholder retum in
relation to the S&P 500 Index over the three-year performance period.

The market-based deferred stock units had an estimated grant-date fair value of $480.94 per unit, which was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation
model. The model utilizes multiple input variables that determine the probability of satisfying the market condition stipulated in the grant and calculates
the fair value of the awards. We generally expense the grant-date fair value of these awards on a straight-line basis over the applicable vesting period.
The calculation of the fair value of market-based deferred stock units used the following assumptions:

Expected wolatility 30.4 %
Risk-free interest rate 41 %
Expected dividend yield 21 %

In addition, during the three months ended 31 December 2024, we granted 106,098 time-based deferred stock units at a weighted average grant-date fair
value of $334.52.

12. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The table below summarizes changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCL"), net of tax, attributable to Air Products for the three months
ended 31 December 2024:

Foreign

Derivatives currency Pension and

qualifying translation postretirement
as hedges adjustments benefits Total
Balance at 30 September 2024 $27.2 ($1,545.3) ($509.6) ($2,027.7)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 65.7 (624.0) — (558.3)
Amounts reclassified from AOCL 91.9 — 11.0 102.9
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss) $157.6 ($624.0) $11.0 ($455.4)
Amount attributable to noncontrolling interests 119.6 (16.5) — 103.1
Balance at 31 December 2024 $65.2 ($2,152.8) ($498.6) ($2,586.2)
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The table below summarizes the reclassifications out of AOCL and the affected line item on the consolidated income statements:

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023

Loss (Gain) on Cash Flow Hedges, net of tax

Sales $0.2 $0.2

Cost of sales 0.8 1.0

Interest expense 0.3 0.8

Other non-operating income (expense), net 90.6 (44.2)
Total Loss (Gain) on Cash Flow Hedges, net of tax $91.9 ($42.2)
Pension and Postretirement Benefits, net of tax® $11.0 $13.7

(A The components of net periodic benefit/cost reclassified out of AOCL include items such as prior senice cost amortization, actuarial loss amortization,
seftlements, and curtailments and are included in “Other non-operating income (expense), net’ on the consolidated income statements. Refer to Note 9,
Retirement Benefits, for additional information.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The table below details the computation of basic and diluted eamings per share ("EPS"):

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023

Numerator

Net income attributable to Air Products $617.4 $609.3
Denominator (in millions)

Weighted average common shares — Basic 222.7 222.5

Effect of dilutive securities

Employee stock option and other award plans 0.2 0.3

Weighted average common shares — Diluted 222.9 222.8
Per Share Data (U.S. Dollars per share)
Basic EPS attributable to Air Products $2.77 $2.74
Diluted EPS attributable to Air Products $2.77 $2.73

During the three months ended 31 December 2024, outstanding share-based awards of 0.1 million shares were antidilutive and therefore excluded from
the computation of diluted eamings per share. There were no antidilutive outstanding share-based awards during the three months ended 31 December
2023.
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14. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Related Party Transactions

We hawe related party sales to certain of our equity affiliates and joint venture partners as well as other income primarily from fees charged for use of Air
Products' patents and technology. Sales to and other income from related parties totaled approximately $80 and $95 for the three months ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively. Sales agreements with related parties include terms that are consistent with those that we believe would have
been negotiated at an amm’s length with an independent party. As of 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, our consolidated balance sheets
included related party trade receivables of approximately $185 and $120, respectiwely.

Total debt owed to related parties was $292.7 and $304.4 as of 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively, of which $192.3 and $200.0,
respectively, was reflected within "Current portion of long-term debt" on our consolidated balance sheets. Our related party debt primarily includes a loan
with our joint venture partner, Lu’An Clean Energy Company.

Shareholder Activism Costs

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2025, we incurred costs of $29.9 ($21.9 after tax) in connection with our response to a proxy contest. These costs,
which are reflected on our consolidated income statement as “Shareholder activism costs”, include legal and other professional senice fees as well as
incremental proxy solicitation costs related to the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. As of 31 December 2024, $15.4 remained accrued within
“Payables and accrued liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheet.

Uzbekistan Asset Purchase

On 25 May 2023, we entered into an investment agreement with the Government of the Republic of Uzbekistan and Uzbekneftegaz JSC (“UNG’) to
purchase a natural gas-to-syngas processing facility in Qashgadaryo Province, Uzbekistan, for $1 billion. Under the agreement, Air Products will acquire,
own, and operate the facility and supply all oftake products to UNG under a 15-year on-site contract, with UNG supplying the feedstock natural gas and
utilities. Throughout this term, we receive a fixed monthly fee (regardless of whether UNG requires the output) comprised of two components: a plant
capacity fee and an operating and maintenance fee.

We are accounting for the transaction as a financing arrangement as we did not obtain accounting control of the facility due to UNG having the unilateral
right to reacquire the facility at the end of the contract term. The repurchase price on a discounted basis, which consists of the total monthly plant
capacity fees received over the term of the arrangement plus the repurchase option price, exceeds our purchase price. Accordingly, our progress
payments are reflected within "Financing receivables™ on our consolidated balance sheets. Financing receivables associated with the Uzbekistan
transaction were approximately $945 and $920 as of 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively.

29



Table of Contents

Accrual for Business and Asset Actions

We initiated a global cost reduction plan in 2023 that provides involuntarily separated employees with severance and other postemployment benefits per
our ongoing benefit arangements. Costs incurred in connection with the plan totaled $84.0 through fiscal year 2024 for approximately 1,100 eligible
employees globally. These costs, which were not recorded in segment results, were reflected within “Business and asset actions” on our consolidated
income statements in fiscal years 2023 and 2024. We did not record any costs related to the plan during the first quarter of fiscal year 2025.

As of 30 September 2024, the liability for unpaid benefits reflected within "Payables and accrued liabilities" on our consolidated balance sheet was $34.0
and primarily related to employees identified in 2024. The table below reconciles this balance to the remaining liability as of 31 December 2024, the
majority of which we expect to pay during the second quarter of fiscal year 2025.

Amount accrued as of 30 September 2024 $34.0
Cash payments (10.4)
Currency translation adjustment (1.3)

Amount accrued as of 31 December 2024
$22.3

Changes in Estimates

Changes in estimates on sale of equipment projects accounted for under the cost incurred input method are recognized as a cumulative adjustment for
the inception-to-date effect of such change. We recorded changes to project revenue and cost estimates that unfavorably impacted operating income by
approximately $28 and $30 during the first quarter of fiscal years 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Income Taxes
Our effective tax rate was 17.8% and 17.9% for the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Income tax payments, net of refunds, were $123.6 and $90.1 for the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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15. BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

We manage our operations, assess performance, and report eamings under the following reportable segments:

*  Americas;
* Asig;
*  Europe;

* Middle East and India; and

+  Corporate and other.
Our reportable segments reflect the manner in which our chief operating decision maker reviews results and allocates resources. We evaluate the
performance of our segments based upon segment operating income. Except for the Corporate and other segment, each reportable segment meets the

definition of an operating segment and does not include the aggregation of multiple operating segments. Our Corporate and other segment includes the
aggregation of two operating segments that meet the aggregation criteria under GAAP.

Summary by Business Segment
Middle East and Corpotrate and
0

Americas Asia Europe India her Total
Three Months Ended 31 December 2024
Sales $1,287.6 $817.1 $697.2 $32.8 $96.8 $2,931.5 @
Operating income (loss) 388.2 216.4 186.5 (0.6) (117.0) 6735 ®
Depreciation and amortization 173.4 122.9 54.5 6.5 9.5 366.8
Equity affiliates’ income 35.1 10.3 18.2 85.0 20 150.6
Three Months Ended 31 December 2023
Sales $1,252.1 $793.8 $731.2 $35.4 $184.9 $2,997.4 @
Operating income (loss) 354.4 211.2 197.6 3.9 (100.2) 666.9 ©
Depreciation and amortization 169.7 111.8 48.2 6.6 12.9 349.2
Equity affiliates’ income 371 4.2 20.7 92.9 3.5 158.4
Total Assets
31 December 2024 $12,79.2 $7,153.1 $5,760.9 $9,586.0 $4,721.0 $40,017.2
30 September 2024 12,383.8 7,436.5 5,849.2 8,477.4 5,427.7 39,574.6

(A Sales relate to external customers only. All intersegment sales are eliminated in consolidation.
(B Refer to the "Reconciliation to Consolidated Results "section below.

Reconciliation to Consolidated Results

The table below reconciles total operating income disclosed in the table above to consolidated operating income as reflected on our consolidated income
statements:

Three Months Ended

31 December
Operating Income 2024 2023
Total $673.5 $666.9
Shareholder activism costs (29.9 —
Consolidated Operating Income $643.6 $666.9
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This Management'’s Discussion and Analysis contains “forward-looking statements” within the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, including statements about business outlook. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s expectations and
assumptions as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are not guarantees of future performance. Actual performance and financial results
may differ materially from projections and estimates expressed in the forward-looking statements because of many factors not anticipated by
management, including, without limitation, those described in "Forward-Looking Statements" and ltem 1A, Risk Factors, of our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended 30 September 2024 (the "2024 Form 10-K"), which was filed with the SEC on 21 November 2024.

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the interim consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes contained in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. Financial information is presented on a continuing operations basis. Unless otherwise stated, amounts discussed are in millions
of U.S. Dollars, except for per share data, which is calculated and presented on a diluted basis in U.S. Dollars per weighted average common share.

The financial measures discussed below are presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), except as noted.
We present certain financial measures on an "adjusted”, or "non-GAAP", basis because we believe such measures, when viewed together with financial
results computed in accordance with GAAP, provide a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting our historical financial
performance. For each non-GAAP financial measure, including adjusted eamings per share ("EPS"), adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin,
adjusted effective tax rate, and capital expenditures, we present a reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in
accordance with GAAP. These reconciliations and explanations regarding the use of non-GAAP financial measures are presented under the
“Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section beginning on page 41.

Comparisons included in the discussion that follows are for the first quarter of fiscal year 2025 versus ("vs.") the first quarter of fiscal year 2024. The
disclosures provided in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are complementary to those made in our 2024 Form 10-K.

We manage our operations, assess performance, and report eamings under five reportable segments: Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East and India,
and Corporate and other. The discussion that follows is based on these operations. Refer to Note 15, Business Segment Information, to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information.

For information conceming activity with our related parties, refer to Note 14, Supplemental Information, to the consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST QUARTER 2025 VS. FIRST QUARTER 2024

FIRST QUARTER 2025 IN SUMMARY

Sales of $2,931.5 decreased 2%, or $65.9, due to lower volumes of 2% and an unfavorable impact from currency of 1%, which were partially offset
by favorable pricing of 1%. Lower volumes driven by the LNG business divestiture in September 2024, which resulted in a headwind of approximately
2%, and a lower contribution from on-sites and merchant in the Europe segment were partially offset by a significant, non-recurring sale of helium to
an existing merchant customer in the Americas segment. Energy cost pass-through to customers was flat versus the prior year.

Operating income of $643.6 decreased 3%, or $23.3, as higher costs and lower volumes were partially offset by higher pricing, net of power and fuel
costs, and favorable currency. The recently divested LNG business contributed operating income of approximately $25 in the prior year. Operating
margin of 22.0% decreased 20 basis points ("bp").

Equity affiliates’ income of $150.6 decreased 5%, or $7.8, driven by lower income from JIGPC in the Middle East & India segment.

Net income of $649.8 increased 5%, or $28.2, as higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, lower non-senice pension costs, and a gain on de-
designated cash flow hedges were partially offset by higher costs. Net income margin of 22.2% increased 150 bp.

Adjusted EBITDA of $1,190.9 increased 1%, or $16.4, as higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, was partially offset by higher costs and lower
equity affiliates’ income. Adjusted EBITDA margin of 40.6% increased 140 bp.

EPS of $2.77 increased 1%, or $0.04 per share. On a non-GAAP basis, adjusted EPS of $2.86 increased 1%, or $0.04 per share. A summary table
of changes to EPS is presented below.
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Summary of Changes in EPS

The diluted per share impacts presented in the tables below were calculated independently and do not sum to the total change in EPS due to rounding.

Three Months Ended
31 December

Change vs.
2024 2023 Prior Year
EPS $2.77 $2.73 $0.04
% Change from prior year 1%
Operating Iltems
Underlying business:
Volume (0.01)
Price, net of variable costs 0.10
Other costs (0.07)
Currency 0.01
Shareholder activism costs (0.10)
Total Operating Items ($0.07)
Other ltems
Equity affiliates’ income ($0.03)
Interest expense 0.04
Other non-operating income/expense, net:
Gain on de-designation of cash flow hedges® 0.05
Non-senice pension cost, net 0.04
Change in effective tax rate (0.02)
Noncontralling interests® 0.02
Total Other Items $0.10
Total Change in EPS $0.04
% Change from prior year 1%

WEPS impact reflected within "Gain on de-designation of cash flow hedges" was calculated based on an after-tax gain attributable to Air Products of

$10.3. The gain attributable to our noncontrolling partners was $25.2.

The table below summarizes the diluted per share impact of our non-GAAP adjustments for the first quarter of fiscal years 2025 and 2024:

Three Months Ended

31 December Change \s.
2024 2023 Prior Year
EPS $2.77 $2.73 $0.04
Shareholder activism costs 0.10 — 0.10
Gain on de-designation of cash flow hedges (0.05) — (0.05)
Non-senice pension cost, net 0.04 0.08 (0.04)
Adjusted EPS $2.86 $2.82 $0.04
% Change from prior year 1%
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FIRST QUARTER 2025 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Discussion of First Quarter Consolidated Results
Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year
2024 2023 $ %l/bp
GAAP Measures
Sales $2,931.5 $2,997.4 ($65.9) (2 %)
Operating income 643.6 666.9 (23.3) (3 %)
Operating margin 22.0 % 222 % (20 bp)
Equity affiliates’ income $150.6 $158.4 ($7.8) (5 %)
Net income 649.8 621.6 28.2 5%
Net income margin 222 % 20.7 % 150 bp
Non-GAAP Measures
Adjusted EBITDA $1,190.9 $1,174.5 $16.4 1%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 40.6 % 39.2% 140 bp
Sales

The table below summarizes the major factors that impacted consolidated sales for the periods presented:

Volume (2 %)
Price 1%
Energy cost pass-through to customers —%
Currency (1 %)
Total Consolidated Sales Change (2 %)

Sales of $2,931.5 decreased 2%, or $65.9, due to lower volumes of 2% and an unfavorable impact from currency of 1%, partially offset by favorable
pricing of 1%. Unfavorable wvolumes were driven by the divestiture of the LNG business in September 2024 and a lower contribution from on-sites and
merchant in the Europe segment, which were partially offset by a significant, non-recurring sale of helium to an existing merchant customer in the
Americas segment. The impact attributable to the LNG divestiture was approximately 2%. The modest 1% total company price improvement, which
equates to a 2% improvement for the merchant business, was driven by pricing in the Americas and Europe segments. The unfavorable currency impact
was primarily attributable to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against currencies in South America and Asia. Energy cost pass-through to customers
was flat versus the prior year.

Cost of Sales and Gross Margin

Cost of sales of $2,016.5 decreased 2%, or $50.7, primarily due to lower costs of $61 attributable to sales volumes and a favorable currency impact of
$13, partially offset by higher costs of $26 that were driven by inflation and incentive compensation. Gross margin of 31.2% increased 20 bp from 31.0%
in the prior year as pricing and favorable business mix more than offset the impact of higher costs.

Selling and Administrative Expense

Selling and administrative expense of $242.4 increased 2%, or $4.0, primarily due to incentive compensation and inflation, partially offset by productivity
improvements. Selling and administrative expense as a percentage of sales increased to 8.3% from 8.0% in the prior year.

Research and Development Expense
Research and development expense of $22.0 decreased 14%, or $3.7. Research and development expense as a percentage of sales decreased to 0.8%
from 0.9% in the prior year.
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Shareholder Activism Costs

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2025, we incurred costs of $29.9 ($21.9 after tax, or $0.10 per share) in connection with our response to a proxy
contest. These costs, which are reflected on our consolidated income statements as “Shareholder activism costs”, include legal and other professional
senice fees as well as incremental proxy solicitation costs related to the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income of $22.9 increased $22.1 primarily due to the sale of a U.S. equity method investment and a prior year unfavorable foreign exchange
impact from the devaluation of the Argentine peso.

Operating Income and Operating Margin

Operating income of $643.6 decreased 3%, or $23.3, as shareholder activism costs of $30, higher costs of $20, and lower volumes of $2 were partially
offset by positive pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $26 and favorable currency of $3. Higher costs related to incentive compensation and inflation
were partially offset by productivity improvements as well as the sale of a U.S. equity method investment. The recently divested LNG business
contributed operating income of approximately $25 in the prior year. Operating margin of 22.0% decreased 20 bp from 22.2% in the prior year primarily
due to the impact of higher costs, which was partially offset by higher pricing and business mix.

Equity Affiliates' Income
Equity affiliates' income of $150.6 decreased 5%, or $7.8, driven by lower income from JIGPC in the Middle East & India segment.

Interest Expense
Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Interest incurred $139.9 $108.6
Less: Capitalized interest 97.3 55.1
Interest expense $42.6 $53.5

Interest incurred increased 29%, or $31.3, primarily due to a higher debt balance from senior notes issued in February 2024 as well as borrowings on
financing available for the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project. Capitalized interest increased 77%, or $42.2, due to a higher carrying value of projects under
construction, including the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project.

Other Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net

Other non-operating income of $38.9 increased $53.7 from an expense of $14.8 in the prior year. The increase was driven by an unrealized gain of $38.8
($10.3 attributable to Air Products after tax, or $0.05 per share) that was recorded for certain de-designated interest rate swaps associated with the
financing for the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project. Refer to Note 3, Variable Interest Entities, and Note 7, Financial Instruments, to the consolidated
financial statements for additional information. Additionally, non-senice pension costs were $10.5 ($7.9 after tax, or $0.04 per share) for the first quarter
of fiscal year 2025 compared to $24.9 ($18.7 after tax, or $0.08 per share) in the prior year. This decrease was driven by a higher expected retum on plan
assets, lower interest cost, and a decrease in actuarial loss amortization.
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Net Income and Net Income Margin

Net income of $649.8 increased 5%, or $28.2. Higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, was partially offset by higher costs related to shareholder
activism, incentive compensation, and inflation. These costs were partially mitigated by productivity improvements. We also recognized lower non-senice
pension costs as well as a gain on de-designated cash flow hedges during the first quarter of fiscal year 2025. Net income margin of 22.2% increased
150 bp from 20.7% in the prior year due to these factors as well as favorable business mix.

In December 2024, the Intemal Revenue Senice and U.S. Department of the Treasury published final regulations that clarified certain investment tax
credit eligibility requirements for Section 48 energy investment tax credits that were enacted as part of the U.S. Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. We are
in the process of evaluating the impact of these regulations and expect to realize significant benefits from the tax incentives once qualifying projects
come onstream in the U.S. We have not included any forecasted benefits in the calculation of our annual effective tax rate for the period ending 31
December 2024 due to uncertainty in the timing and amount of such benefits.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

Adjusted EBITDA of $1,190.9 increased 1%, or $16.4, as higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, was partially offset by higher costs and lower equity
ffiliates’ income. Adjusted EBITDA margin of 40.6% increased 140 bp from 39.2% in the prior year primarily due to favorable business mix and higher
pricing.

Effective Tax Rate

The effective tax rate equals the income tax provision divided by income before taxes. Equity affiliates’ income is primarily included net of income taxes
within income before taxes on our consolidated income statements.

Our effective tax rate was 17.8% and 17.9% for the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The current quarter effective tax rate
was lower due to eaming a greater share of income in jurisdictions with lower tax rates and a benefit from a U.S. state tax law change in the current
period, which were mostly offset by higher net costs on foreign-related income taxed in the U.S., lower U.S. tax benefits for foreign-derived income, and
the release of certain previously unrecognized tax benefits in the prior year.

Our adjusted effective tax rate, which excludes the impact of adjustments presented in the "Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures" section
beginning on page 41, was 18.7% and 18.1% for the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Discussion of First Quarter Results by Business Segment

Americas
Three Months Ended
31 December Change vs. Prior Year

2024 2023 $ %/bp
Sales $1,287.6 $1,252.1 $35.5 3%
Operating income 388.2 354.4 33.8 10 %
Operating margin 30.1 % 28.3% 180 bp
Equity affiliates’ income $35.1 $37.1 ($2.0) (5 %)
Adjusted EBITDA 596.7 561.2 35.5 6 %
Adjusted EBITDA margin 46.3 % 44.8 % 150 bp
The table below summarizes the major factors that impacted sales in the Americas segment for the periods presented:
Volume 3%
Price 2%
Energy cost pass-through to customers (1 %)
Currency (1%)
Total Americas Sales Change 3%

Sales of $1,287.6 increased 3%, or $35.5, as higher volumes of 3% and higher pricing of 2% were partially offset by lower energy cost pass-through to
customers of 1% and an unfavorable currency impact of 1%. The volume improvement was primarily due to a significant, non-recurring sale of helium to
an existing merchant customer. The total segment pricing increase of 2% equates to a 4% improvement in our merchant business, where pricing was

favorable across most product lines.

Operating income of $388.2 increased 10%, or $33.8, as higher volumes of $35 and positive pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $18 were partially
offset by higher costs of $15 and unfavorable currency of $4. Higher costs for inflation, planned maintenance expense, depreciation expense, and
incentive compensation were partially offset by income recognized on the sale of an equity method investment. Operating margin of 30.1% increased 180

bp from 28.3% in the prior year.
Equity affiliates’ income of $35.1 decreased 5%, or $2.0.
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Asia
Three Months Ended
31 December Change vs. Prior Year

2024 2023 $ %/bp
Sales $817.1 $793.8 $23.3 3%
Operating income 216.4 211.2 52 2%
Operating margin 26.5 % 26.6 % (10 bp)
Equity affiliates’ income $10.3 $4.2 $6.1 145 %
Adjusted EBITDA 349.6 327.2 24 7%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 42.8 % 41.2% 160 bp
The table below summarizes the major factors that impacted sales in the Asia segment for the periods presented:
Volume 2%
Price —%
Energy cost pass-through to customers 2%
Currency (1 %)
Total Asia Sales Change 3%

Sales of $817.1 increased 3%, or $23.3, as higher volumes of 2% driven by new on-site assets and higher energy cost pass-through to customers of 2%

were partially offset by an unfavorable currency impact of 1%. Pricing was flat versus the prior year.

Operating income of $216.4 increased 2%, or $5.2, due to lower costs of $6 and favorable volumes of $3, partially offset by lower pricing, net of power
and fuel costs, of $2 and unfavorable currency of $2. The cost improvement was primarily attributable to productivity improvements, which were partially
offset by higher costs related to incentive compensation and inflation. Operating margin of 26.5% decreased 10 bp from 26.6% in the prior year.

Equity affiliates’ income of $10.3 increased 145%, or $6.1, driven by prior year maintenance expense at an &ffiliate in China.
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Europe
Three Months Ended
31 December Change vs. Prior Year

2024 2023 $ %/bp
Sales $697.2 $731.2 ($34.0) (5 %)
Operating income 186.5 197.6 (11.1) (6 %)
Operating margin 26.7 % 27.0 % (30 bp)
Equity affiliates’ income $18.2 $20.7 ($2.5) (12 %)
Adjusted EBITDA 259.2 266.5 (7.3) (3 %)
Adjusted EBITDA margin 37.2% 36.4 % 80 bp

The table below summarizes the major factors that impacted sales in the Europe segment for the periods presented:

Volume (5 %)
Price 1%
Energy cost pass-through to customers (1 %)
Currency —%
Total Europe Sales Change (5 %)

Sales of $697.2 decreased 5%, or $34.0, due to lower volumes of 5% and lower energy cost pass-through to customers of 1%, partially offset by higher
pricing of 1%. The unfavorable volumes were driven by a lower contribution from our on-site business and lower helium in our merchant business.
Currency remained flat versus the prior year.

Operating income of $186.5 decreased 6%, or $11.1, due to lower volumes of $23, partially offset by higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $10
and favorable costs of $2. The lower costs were driven by productivity improvements and lower costs for planned maintenance outages, which were
partially offset by inflation and higher depreciation expense. Operating margin of 26.7% decreased 30 bp from 27.0% in the prior year.

Equity affiliates’ income of $18.2 decreased 12%, or $2.5.
Middle East and India

Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year
2024 2023 $ %
Sales $32.8 $35.4 ($2.6) (7 %)
Operating (loss) income (0.6) 39 4.5) (115 %)
Equity affiliates’ income 85.0 929 (7.9 9 %)
Adjusted EBITDA 90.9 103.4 (12.5) (12 %)

Sales of $32.8 decreased 7%, or $2.6, primarily due to lower demand for merchant products. Operating loss was $0.6 compared to income of $3.9 in the
prior year, which also reflects the impact of higher costs.

Equity affiliates’ income of $85.0 decreased 9%, or $7.9, as a higher portion of income from the JIGPC joint venture was allocated to shareholders
entitled to preferred distributions. Refer to Note 3, Variable Interest Entities, to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
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Corporate and other
Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year
2024 2023 $ %
Sales $96.8 $184.9 ($88.1) (48 %)
Operating loss (117.0) (100.2) (16.8) (17 %)
Equity affiliates' income 20 35 (1.5) (43 %)
Adjusted EBITDA (105.5) (83.8) (21.7) (26 %)

Sales of $96.8 decreased 48%, or $88.1, primarily due to the divestiture of the LNG business in September 2024.

Operating loss of $117.0 increased 17%, or $16.8. The increase was driven by the divestiture of the LNG business, which generated operating income of
approximately $25 for the first quarter of fiscal year 2024, as well as higher costs for incentive compensation.

Equity affiliates’ income of $2.0 decreased 43%, or $1.5.

RECONCILIATIONS OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
(Millions of U.S. Dollars unless otherwise indicated, except for per share data)

We present certain financial measures, other than in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), on an "adjusted" or "non-
GAAP" basis. On a consolidated basis, these measures include adjusted eamings per share ("EPS"), adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin, the
adjusted effective tax rate, and capital expenditures. On a segment basis, these measures include adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin. In
addition to these measures, we also present certain supplemental non-GAAP financial measures to help the reader understand the impact that certain
disclosed items, or "non-GAAP adjustments," have on the calculation of our adjusted EPS. For each non-GAAP financial measure, we present a
reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP.

In many cases, non-GAAP financial measures are determined by adjusting the most directly comparable GAAP measure to exclude non-GAAP
adjustments that we believe are not representative of our underlying business performance. For example, we exclude the impact of the non-senice
components of net periodic benefit/cost for our defined benefit pension plans. Non-senice related components are recurring, non-operating items that
include interest cost, expected retums on plan assets, prior senice cost amortization, actuarial loss amortization, as well as special termination
benefits, curtailments, and settlements. The net impact of non-senice related components is reflected within “Other non-operating income (expense),
net” on our consolidated income statements. Adjusting for the impact of non-senice pension components provides management and users of our
financial statements with a more accurate representation of our underlying business performance because these components are driven by factors that
are unrelated to our operations, such as wolatility in equity and debt markets. Further, non-senice related components are not indicative of our defined
benefit plans’ future contribution needs due to the funded status of the plans. Additionally, during the first quarter of fiscal year 2025, we excluded costs
associated with our response to actions of activist shareholders, which are not associated with the ongoing operation of our business and are difficult to
predict in future periods. We may also exclude certain expenses associated with cost reduction actions and impairment charges as well as gains on
disclosed transactions. The reader should be aware that we may recognize similar losses or gains in the future.

When applicable, the tax impact of our pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments reflects the expected current and deferred income tax impact of our non-GAAP
adjustments. These tax impacts are primarily driven by the statutory tax rate of the various relevant jurisdictions and the taxability of the adjustments in
those jurisdictions.
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We provide these non-GAAP financial measures to allow investors, potential investors, securities analysts, and others to evaluate the performance of our
business in the same manner as our management. We believe these measures, when viewed together with financial results computed in accordance
with GAAP, provide a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting our historical financial performance and projected future results.
However, we caution readers not to consider these measures in isolation or as a substitute for the most directly comparable measures calculated in
accordance with GAAP. Readers should also consider the limitations associated with these non-GAAP financial measures, including the potential lack
of comparability of these measures from one company to another.

ADJUSTED EPS

The table below provides a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure for each of the major components used to calculate adjusted
EPS, which we view as a key performance metric. In periods that we have non-GAAP adjustments, we beliewe it is important for the reader to understand
the per share impact of each such adjustment because management does not consider these impacts when evaluating underlying business
performance. Per share impacts are calculated independently and may not sum to total GAAP EPS and total adjusted EPS due to rounding.

Q1 2025 C?)erating Other Non-Q)eratin% Income Tax Attll'\ilgltJtlgcblcc}antg Air
vs. Q1 2024 Income Income/Expense, Ne Provision Products BS

Q1 2025 GAAP $643.6 $38.9 $140.7 $617.4 $2.77
Q1 2024 GAAP 666.9 (14.8) 135.4 609.3 2.73

$ Change GAAP $0.04
% Change GAAP 1%
Q1 2025 GAAP $643.6 $38.9 $140.7 $617.4 $2.77
Shareholder activism costs 29.9 — 8.0 21.9 0.10
Gain on de-designation of cash flow hedges® — (38.8) (3.3) (10.3) (0.05)
Non-senice pension cost, net — 10.5 2.6 7.9 0.04
Q1 2025 Non-GAAP ("Adjusted") $673.5 $10.6 $148.0 $636.9 $2.86
Q12024 GAAP $666.9 ($14.8) $135.4 $609.3 $2.73
Non-senice pension cost, net — 24.9 6.2 18.7 0.08
Q1 2024 Non-GAAP ("Adjusted") $666.9 $10.1 $141.6 $628.0 $2.82

$ Change Non-GAAP ("Adjusted") $0.04

% Change Non-GAAP ("Adjusted") 1%

@) Unrealized gain attributable to noncontrolling partners was $25.2.
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ADJUSTED EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA MARGIN

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income less income from discontinued operations, net of tax, and excluding non-GAAP adjustments, which we do
not believe to be indicative of underlying business trends, before interest expense, other non-operating income (expense), net, income tax provision, and
depreciation and amortization expense. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin provide useful metrics for management to assess operating
performance. Margins are calculated independently for each period by dividing each line item by consolidated sales for the respective period and may not
sum to total margin due to rounding.

The table below presents consolidated sales and a reconciliation of net income on a GAAP basis to adjusted EBITDA and net income margin on a
GAAP basis to adjusted EBITDA margin:

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
$ Margin $ Margin

Sales $2,931.5 $2,997.4
Net income and net income margin $649.8 22.2 % $621.6 20.7 %
Add: Interest expense 42.6 1.5% 53.5 1.8 %
Less: Other non-operating income (expense), net 38.9 1.3% (14.8) (0.5 %)
Add: Income tax provision 140.7 4.8 % 135.4 4.5%
Add: Depreciation and amortization 366.8 125 % 349.2 1.7 %
Add: Shareholder activism costs 29.9 1.0 % — —%
Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin $1,190.9 40.6 % $1,174.5 39.2 %
Change GAAP

Net income $ change $28.2

Net income % change 5%

Net income margin change 150bp
Change Non-GAAP

Adjusted EBITDA $ change $16.4

Adjusted EBITDA % change 1%

Adjusted EBITDA margin change 140bp
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The tables below present sales and a reconciliation of operating income and operating margin by segment to adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA

margin by segment for the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year

Americas 2024 2023 $ %/bp
Sales $1,287.6 $1,252.1 $35.5 3%
Operating income 388.2 354.4 33.8 10 %
Operating margin 30.1 % 28.3 % 180 bp
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:

Operating income $388.2 $354.4

Add: Depreciation and amortization 173.4 169.7

Add: Equity affiliates’ income 35.1 37.1

Adjusted EBITDA $596.7 $561.2 $35.5 6 %

Adjusted EBITDA margin 46.3 % 44.8 % 150 bp

Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year
Asia 2024 2023 $ %/bp
Sales $817.1 $793.8 $23.3 3%
Operating income 216.4 211.2 52 2%
Operating margin 26.5 % 26.6 % (10 bp)
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Operating income $216.4 $211.2
Add: Depreciation and amortization 122.9 111.8
Add: Equity affiliates’ income 10.3 4.2
Adjusted EBITDA $349.6 $327.2 $22.4 7%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 42.8 % 41.2 % 160 bp
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Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year

Europe 2024 2023 $ %/bp
Sales $697.2 $731.2 ($34.0) (5 %)
Operating income 186.5 197.6 (11.1) (6 %)
Operating margin 26.7 % 27.0 % (30 bp)
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:

Operating income $186.5 $197.6

Add: Depreciation and amortization 54.5 48.2

Add: Equity affiliates’ income 18.2 20.7

Adjusted EBITDA $259.2 $266.5 ($7.3) (3 %)

Adjusted EBITDA margin 37.2% 36.4 % 80 bp

Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year

Middle East and India 2024 2023 $ %
Sales $32.8 $35.4 ($2.6) (7 %)
Operating (loss) income (0.6) 39 4.5) (115 %)
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:

Operating (loss) income ($0.6) $3.9

Add: Depreciation and amortization 6.5 6.6

Add: Equity affiliates' income 85.0 92.9

Adjusted EBITDA $90.9 $103.4 ($12.5) (12 %)

Three Months Ended

31 December Change vs. Prior Year

Corporate and other 2024 2023 $ %
Sales $96.8 $184.9 ($88.1) (48 %)
Operating loss (117.0) (100.2) (16.8) (17 %)
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:

Operating loss ($117.0) ($100.2)

Add: Depreciation and amortization 9.5 12.9

Add: Equity affiliates’ income 2.0 3.5

Adjusted EBITDA ($105.5) ($83.8) ($21.7) (26 %)
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ADJUSTED EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

The effective tax rate equals the income tax provision divided by income before taxes. We calculate our adjusted effective tax rate by adjusting the
numerator and denominator to exclude the tax and before tax impacts of our non-GAAP adjustments, respectively. The table below presents a
reconciliation of the GAAP effective tax rate to our adjusted effective tax rate:

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Income tax provision $140.7 $135.4
Income before taxes 790.5 757.0
Effective tax rate 17.8 % 17.9 %
Income tax provision $140.7 $135.4
Shareholder activism costs tax impact 8.0 —
Gain on de-designation of cash flow hedges tax impact (3.3) —
Non-senice pension cost, net tax impact 2.6 6.2
Adjusted income tax provision $148.0 $141.6
Income before taxes $790.5 $757.0
Shareholder activism costs 29.9 —
Gain on de-designation of cash flow hedges (38.8) —
Non-senice pension cost, net 10.5 24.9
Adjusted income before taxes $792.1 $781.9
Adjusted effective tax rate 18.7 % 18.1 %

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Capital expenditures is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as the sum of cash flows for additions to plant and equipment, including long-term
deposits, acquisitions (less cash acquired), investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates, and investment in financing receivables on our
consolidated statements of cash flows. Additionally, we adjust additions to plant and equipment to exclude NEOM Green Hydrogen Company (“NGHC")
expenditures funded by the joint venture's project financing, which is non-recourse to Air Products, as well as our partners’ equity contributions to arrive
at a measure that we believe is more representative of our investment activities. Substantially all the funding we provide to NGHC is limited for use by the
venture for its capital expenditures.

A reconciliation of cash used for investing activities to our reported capital expenditures is provided below:

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Cash used for investing activities $2,182.1 $1,665.6
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments 344 4.2
Purchases of investments (117.6) (55.5)
Proceeds from investments 5.0 120.1
Other investing activities 29.0 12.9
NGHC expenditures not funded by Air Products' equity® (923.1) (361.6)
Capital expenditures $1,209.8 $1,385.7

(™ Reflects the portion of "Additions to plant and equipment, including long-term deposits" that is associated with NGHC, less our approximate cash investment in
the joint venture.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe we hawe sufficient cash, cash flows from operations, and funding sources to meet our liquidity needs. As further discussed in the "Cash
Flows From Financing Activities" section below, we have the ability to raise capital through a variety of financing activities, including accessing capital or
commercial paper markets or drawing upon our credit facilities.

As of 31 December 2024, we had $1,474.2 of foreign cash and cash items compared to total cash and cash items of $1,845.5. We do not expect that a
significant portion of the eamings of our foreign subsidiaries and affiliates will be subject to U.S. income tax upon repatriation to the U.S. Depending on
the country in which the subsidiaries and affiliates reside, the repatriation of these eamings may be subject to foreign withholding and other taxes.
However, since we hawe significant current investment plans outside the U.S., it is our intent to permanently reinvest the majority of our foreign cash and
cash items that would be subject to additional taxes outside the U.S.

Cash Flows From Operations
Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Net income attributable to Air Products $617.4 $609.3
Adjustments to reconcile income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 366.8 349.2
Deferred income taxes 6.3) 13.5
Undistributed eamings of equity method investments (48.4) 41.5)
Gain on sale of assets and investments (10.1) (1.4)
Share-based compensation 16.4 13.8
Noncurrent lease receivables 15.0 20.0
Other adjustments (122.6) 33.3
Changes in working capital accounts (16.5) (369.6)
Cash Provided by Operating Activities $811.7 $626.6

For the first three months of fiscal year 2025, cash provided by operating activities was $811.7. Other adjustments of $122.6 primarily included
adjustments for noncash currency impacts of intercompany balances. The working capital accounts were a use of cash of $16.5. A use of cash of $47.8
within "Trade receivables" due to the timing of cash collections was partially offset by a source of cash of $30.5 within "Payables and accrued liabilities".
The source of cash within "Payables and accrued liabilities" primarily resulted from an increase in accrued utilities and changes in the fair value of
derivative contracts that hedge intercompany loans, partially offset by payments for incentive compensation under the fiscal year 2024 plan.

In January 2025, we made U.S. Federal and State income tax payments of approximately $395 that primarily related to the gain on the sale of the LNG
business in September 2024.

For the first three months of fiscal year 2024, cash provided by operating activities was $626.6. The working capital accounts were a use of cash of
$369.6, primarily driven by $268.5 from payables and accrued liabilities, $64.5 from other receivables, and $48.6 from inventories. The use of cash within
"Payables and Accrued Liabilities" primarily resulted from payments for incentive compensation, a reduction of customer advances for sale of equipment
projects as we recognized revenue, and a reduction of liabilities associated with accrued utilities. The use of cash within "Other receivables" primarily
related to the payment of value added taxes incurred in the construction of our larger projects, for which we claimed a refund. The use of cash within
"Inventories” primarily related to purchases of helium.
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Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Additions to plant and equipment, including long-term deposits ($2,117.6) ($1,445.5)
Investment in financing receivables (15.3) (301.8)
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments 34.4 4.2
Purchases of investments (117.6) (55.5)
Proceeds from investments 50 120.1
Other investing activities 29.0 12.9
Cash Used for Investing Activities ($2,182.1) ($1,665.6)

For the first three months of fiscal year 2025, cash used for investing activities was $2,182.1. The use of cash primarily resulted from additions to plant
and equipment, including long-term deposits, of $2,117.6. Refer to the "Capital Expenditures" section below for further detail. Purchases of investments
of $117.6 included purchases of time deposits, which have terms greater than three months but less than one year, and exceeded proceeds from
investments of $5.0.

For the first three months of fiscal year 2024, cash used for investing activities was $1,665.6. The use of cash primarily resulted from additions to plant
and equipment, including long-term deposits, of $1,445.5 and an investment in financing receivables of $301.8. Refer to the Capital Expenditures section
below for further detail. Proceeds from investments of $120.1 resulted from maturities of time deposits and treasury securities with terms greater than
three months but less than one year and exceeded purchases of investments of $55.5.

Capital Expenditures (Non-GAAP Financial Measure)

The components of our capital expenditures are detailed in the table below. Refer to page 46 for a definition of this non-GAAP financial measure as well
as a reconciliation to cash used for investing activities.

Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Additions to plant and equipment, including long-term deposits $2,117.6 $1,445.5
Investment in financing receivables 15.3 301.8
NGHC expenditures not funded by Air Products' equity® (923.1) (361.6)
Capital Expenditures $1,209.8 $1,385.7

(A Reflects the portion of "Additions to plant and equipment, including long-term deposits" that is associated with NGHC, less our approximate cash investment in
the joint venture.

Capital expenditures for the first three months of fiscal year 2025 totaled $1,209.8 compared to $1,385.7 for the first three months of fiscal year 2024.
Spending for plant and equipment primarily included project spending for our clean energy projects such as the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project in NEOM
City, Saudi Arabia, as well as our clean energy complexes in Louisiana, United States, and Alberta, Canada. Additionally, we continue to invest capital
in our core industrial gas business for new industrial gas plants as well as maintaining and replacing existing facilities. The investment in financing
receivables of $15.3 during the first quarter of fiscal year 2025 relates to remaining payments associated with the purchase of a natural gas-to-syngas
processing facility in Uzbekistan. The prior year investment in financing receivables of $301.8 included a payment of $100 related to this facility as well
as payments associated with the purchase of renewable fuel assets from World Energy. Refer to Note 14, Supplemental Information, and Note 3,
Variable Interest Entities, to the consolidated financial statements, respectively, for additional information.
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Outlook for Investing Activities

It is not possible, without unreasonable efforts, to reconcile our forecasted capital expenditures to future cash used for investing activities because we
are unable to identify the timing or occurrence of our future investment activity, which is driven by our assessment of competing opportunities at the time
we enter into transactions. These decisions, either individually or in the aggregate, could have a significant effect on our cash used for investing activities.

We expect capital expenditures for fiscal year 2025 in the range of $4.5 billion to $5.0 billion. We anticipate capital expenditures to be funded with our
current cash balance, cash generated from continuing operations, and additional financing activities.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Long-term debt proceeds $459.2 $810.4
Payments on long-term debt (12.1) (54.8)
(Decrease) Increase in commercial paper and short-term borrowings (21.5) 1,020.9
Dividends paid to shareholders (393.6) (388.9)
Proceeds from stock option exercises 1.1 5.3
Investments by noncontrolling interests 280.9 34.5
Other financing activities (39.8) (64.6)
Cash Provided by Financing Activities $274.2 $1,362.8

For the first three months of fiscal year 2025, cash provided by financing activities was $274.2. The source of cash was driven by long-term debt
proceeds of $459.2 and investments by noncontrolling interests of $280.9, both of which primarily relate to capital spending by NGHC. These sources of
cash were partially offset by dividend payments to shareholders of $393.6.

For the first three months of fiscal year 2024, cash provided by financing activities was $1,362.8. The source of cash was primarily driven by a net
increase in commercial paper and short-term borrowings of $1,020.9 and long-term debt proceeds of $810.4. The long-term debt proceeds primarily
related to capital spending by NGHC. These sources of cash were partially offset by dividend payments to shareholders of $388.9 and payments on long-
term debt of $54.8.

Financing and Capital Structure

Debt

Total debt increased to $14.5 billion as of 31 December 2024 from $14.2 billion as of 30 September 2024 due to additional borrowings under project
financing associated with the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project as further discussed below. Total debt includes related party debt of $292.7 and $304.4 as
of 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively.

Various debt agreements to which we are a party include financial covenants and other restrictions, including restrictions pertaining to the ability to

create property liens and enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions. As of 31 December 2024, we were in compliance with all of the financial
and other covenants under our debt agreements.

49



Table of Contents

Credit Facilities

We hawe a five-year $3.0 billion revolving credit agreement maturing 31 March 2029 (the “2024 Five-Year Credit Agreement”) as well as a 364-day $500
revolving credit agreement maturing 27 March 2025 that we have the ability to convert into a term loan maturing 27 March 2026 (the "2024 364-Day Credit
Agreement" and, together with the 2024 Five-Year Credit Agreement, the "2024 Credit Agreements"). Both of the 2024 Credit Agreements are syndicated
facilities that provide a source of liquidity and support our commercial paper program through availability of senior unsecured debt to us and certain of our
subsidiaries. No borrowings were outstanding under either of the 2024 Credit Agreements as of 31 December 2024.

We also have credit facilities available to certain of our foreign subsidiaries totaling $1,196.9, of which $1,102.0 was borrowed and outstanding as of 31
December 2024. The amount borrowed and outstanding as of 30 September 2024 was $1,129.0.

NEOM Green Hydrogen Project Financing

NGHC has access to project financing of approximately $6.1 billion, which is expected to fund approximately 73% of the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project
and is being drawn over the construction period, as well as additional credit facilities totaling approximately $500 primarily for NGHC's working capital
needs. Creditors of NGHC do not have recourse to the general credit of Air Products. As of 31 December 2024, the joint venture had borrowed short- and
long-term principal amounts totaling $3.8 billion compared to $3.3 billion as of 30 September 2024. Refer to Note 3, Variable Interest Entities, to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Dividends

The Board of Directors determines whether to declare cash dividends on our common stock and the timing and amount based on financial condition and
other factors it deems relevant. We believe providing a consistent dividend plays a critical part in the creation of shareholder value and expect to retum
approximately $1.6 billion to shareholders in 2025.

Dividends are paid quarterly, usually during the sixth week after the close of the fiscal quarter. On 21 November 2024, the Board of Directors declared a
quarterly dividend of $1.77 per share that is payable on 10 February 2025 to shareholders of record at the close of business on 2 January 2025.
Additionally, on 22 January 2025, the Board of Directors approved a $0.02 per share increase to our quarterly dividend, marking the 43 consecutive year
of dividend increases. The dividend declared in January is payable on 12 May 2025 to shareholders of record at the close of business on 1 April 2025.
We expect to continue our history of increasing our quarterly dividend.
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PENSION BENEFITS

We and certain of our subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution plans that cover a substantial portion of our worldwide
employees. The principal defined benefit pension plans are the U.S. salaried pension plan and the U.K. pension plan. These plans were closed to new
participants in 2005, after which defined contribution plans were offered to new employees. The shift to defined contribution plans is expected to continue
to reduce wolatility of both plan expense and contributions. For additional information, refer to Note 9, Retirement Benefits, to the consolidated financial
statements.

Net Periodic Cost
The table below summarizes the components of net periodic cost for our U.S. and intemational defined benefit pension plans:
Three Months Ended

31 December
2024 2023
Senice cost $5.2 $5.2
Non-senice cost 10.5 24.9
Other 0.1 0.1
Net Periodic Cost $15.8 $30.2

Net periodic cost was $15.8 and $30.2 for the three months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease in costs versus the prior
year were primarily attributable to non-senice costs, which were driven by a higher expected retum on plan assets due to a higher beginning balance of
plan assets, lower interest cost, and a decrease in actuarial loss amortization. Non-senice related components of net periodic cost are reflected within
"Other non-operating income (expense), net" on our consolidated income statements.

Senice costs result from benefits eamed by active employees and are reflected as operating expenses primarily within "Cost of sales" and "Selling and
administrative expense" on our consolidated income statements. The amount of senice costs capitalized in the first three months of fiscal years 2025
and 2024 was not material.

Company Contributions

Management considers various factors when making pension funding decisions, including tax, cash flow, and regulatory implications. For the three
months ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, our cash contributions to funded pension plans and benefit payments for unfunded pension plans were $8.2
and $12.0, respectiwely.

Total contributions for fiscal year 2025 are expected to be approximately $30 to $40. During fiscal year 2024, total contributions were $34.7.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

A description of our major accounting policies, including those that we consider to be the most critical to understanding our financial statements, is
included in our 2024 Form 10-K. There were no significant changes to our accounting policies during the first three months of fiscal year 2025.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes that have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates reflect our best judgment
about current and/or future economic and market conditions and their effect based on information available as of the date of our consolidated financial
statements. If conditions change, actual results may differ materially from these estimates.
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Judgments and estimates of uncertainties are required to apply our accounting policies in many areas. Howe\er, application of policies that management
has identified as critical places significant importance on management’s judgment, often as the result of the need to make estimates about the effects of
matters that are inherently uncertain. During the first three months of fiscal year 2025, we recorded changes to project revenue and cost estimates on
certain sale of equipment projects that are accounted for under the cost incurred input method. Accordingly, we recorded cumulative effect adjustments
that unfavorably impacted operating income by approximately $28 for the three months ended 31 December 2024. There were no other changes to our
estimates during the first three months of fiscal year 2025 that had a significant impact on our financial condition, change in financial condition, liquidity,
or results of operations.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Information on our utilization of financial instruments and an analysis of the sensitivity of these instruments to selected changes in market rates and
prices is included in our 2024 Form 10-K.

Our net financial instrument position decreased from a liability of $13,855.3 at 30 September 2024 to a liability of $13,746.8 at 31 December 2024. The
decrease was primarily due to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar that was offset by additional borrowings under the project financing associated with
the NEOM Green Hydrogen Project as discussed in Note 3, Variable Interest Entities, to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest Rate Risk

Our debt portfolio as of 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, including the effect of curency and interest rate swap agreements, was composed
of 87% fixed-rate debt and 13% variable-rate debt.

The sensitivity analysis related to the interest rate risk on the fixed portion of our debt portfolio assumes an instantaneous 100 bp parallel mowe in
interest rates from the lewvel at 31 December 2024, with all other variables held constant. A 100 bp increase in market interest rates would result in a
decrease of $977 and $1,035 in the net liability position of financial instruments at 31 December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively. A 100 bp
decrease in market interest rates would result in an increase of $1,128 and $1,197 in the net liability position of financial instruments at 31 December
2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively.

There were no material changes to the sensitivity analysis related to the variable portion of our debt portfolio since 30 September 2024.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The sensitivity analysis related to foreign currency exchange rates assumes an instantaneous 10% change in the foreign currency exchange rates from
their lewels at 31 December 2024, with all other variables held constant. A 10% strengthening or weakening of the functional currency of an entity versus
all other currencies would result in a decrease or increase, respectively, of $422 and $408 in the net liability position of financial instruments at 31
December 2024 and 30 September 2024, respectively.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a comprehensive set of disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Under
the supenision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of 31 December 2024. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as
of 31 December 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the
quarter ended 31 December 2024 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 5. Other Information

None of the Company’s directors or Section 16 reporting officers adopted or terminated any Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement (as such terms are defined in Iltem 408 of Regulation S-K) during the first quarter of fiscal year 2025.

Item 6. Exhibits
(a) Exhibits required by Iltem 601 of Regulation S-K

Exhibit No. Description

(10) Material Contracts

10.1 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Company, used for FY2025 Awards. 1

10.2 Form of Performance Share Award Agreement under the Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Company. used for FY2025 Awards. t

(31) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications

31.1 Certification by the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification by the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(32) Section 1350 Certifications

321 Certification by the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 1

(101) Interactive Data Files

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document. The XBRL Instance Document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

104 Cower Page Interactive Data File, formatted in Inline XBRL (included in Exhibit 101).

Indicates management contract or compensatory arrangement

11 The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qis not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation
language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

By:

Date:

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.

(Registrant)

/s/ Melissa N. Schaeffer

Melissa N. Schaeffer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

6 February 2025
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